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PART I

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” that involve risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of
historical fact contained in this Annual Report and the documents incorporated by reference herein, including statements regarding future events, our
future financial performance, business strategy, and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. We have
attempted to identify forward-looking statements by terminology including “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “should,” or “will” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Although we do not
make forward looking statements unless we believe we have a reasonable basis for doing so, we cannot guarantee their accuracy. These statements are
only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may affect our or our industry’s actual results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Moreover, we operate in a highly regulated, very
competitive, and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risk factors, nor can we
address the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause our actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

" ow now " o« " o« "o

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we
believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short term and long-term business operations, and financial needs.
These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those reflected
in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Annual
Report, and in particular, the risks discussed under “Item 1, Business,” “ltem 1A, Risk Factors,” and “ltem 7, Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and those discussed in other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange



Commission (the “SEC”). In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Annual
Report may not occur as described and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking
statement.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include, without limitation:

e the results of clinical evaluations and the regulatory approval process;

e market acceptance of any products that may be approved for commercialization;

e our ability to protect our intellectual property rights;

e the impact of any infringement actions or other litigation brought against us;

e competition from other providers and products;

e our ability to develop and commercialize new and improved products and services;

e changes in government regulation;

e and other factors (including the risks contained in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in other documents we file with the SEC) relating to our
industry, our operations and results of operations.

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ significantly
from those anticipated, believed, estimated, expected, intended or planned.

Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements as
a result of new information, events or circumstances or other factors arising or coming to our attention after the date hereof.
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As used in this Annual Report, the terms “we”, “us”, “our”, “Company”, “CODX" and “Co-Diagnostics” means Co-Diagnostics, Inc., a Utah corporation and
its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”), unless otherwise indicated.

ITEM 1: BUSINESS
Overview

Co-Diagnostics, Inc., a Utah corporation (the “Company” or “CODX?"), develops, manufactures and sells reagents used for diagnostic tests that function
via the detection and/or analysis of nucleic acid molecules (DNA or RNA), including robust and innovative molecular tools for detection of infectious
diseases, liquid biopsy for cancer screening, and agricultural applications. Our diagnostics systems enable dependable, low-cost, molecular testing for
organisms and genetic diseases by automating or simplifying historically complex procedures in both the development and administration of tests.
CODX’s technical advance involves a novel, patented approach to PCR test design of primer and probe structure (“CoPrimers™") that eliminates one of
the key vexing issues of PCR amplification: the exponential growth of primer-dimer pairs (false positives and false negatives) which adversely interferes
with identification of the target DNA/RNA. Using our proprietary test design system and proprietary reagents, we have designed and obtained regulatory
approval to sell PCR diagnostic tests for the detection of COVID-19, influenza, tuberculosis, hepatitis B and C, human papillomavirus, malaria,
chikungunya, dengue, and the Zika virus. These initial diagnostic tests were cleared for use in clinical labs only and not for point-of-care or at-home use.

We are currently developing a unique, groundbreaking portable diagnostic device and test system designed for point-of-care and at-home use. The
system is comprised of our PCR instrument that we refer to as the Co-Dx™ PCR Pro™ instrument, our proprietary diagnostic test cup system and a
mobile application to be installed on the user's mobile device. We refer to the system as the “Co-Dx™ PCR platform that is being designed to bring
affordable, reliable polymerase chain reaction (“PCR”) testing to patients in point-of-care and at-home settings. The Co-Dx PCR platform is subject to
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) review and is not available for sale at the time of this filing. In December 2023, we submitted the Co-Dx PCR
platform for review by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for Emergency Use Authorization (EUA). The submission included the PCR Pro
instrument, Co-Dx PCR COVID-19 detection test cups, and mobile app, all designed for use in point-of-care and at-home settings. There is ho guarantee
that our Co-Dx PCR platform will receive the necessary regulatory approvals for commercialization, or that, if regulatory approval is received, we will be
able to successfully commercialize this platform.

Technology

We believe our proprietary molecular diagnostics technology is paving the way for innovation in disease detection and life sciences research through our
enhanced detection of genetic material. For various reasons, including owning our own platform, we believe we will be able to accomplish this faster and
more economically than some competitors, allowing for significant margins while still positioning ourselves as a low-cost provider of molecular diagnostics
and screening services. For example, we were the first US-based company to receive a CE-marking for a COVID-19 test in early 2020, as we worked to
help slow the spread of the pandemic through our global network of distributors covering clinical labs in more than 50 countries. Our Logix Smart COVID-
19 test was designed, developed, submitted for regulatory approval and ready to be used as an in vitro diagnostic or IVD in countries that accept a CE
Mark as approval for use of the test in a period of just over 30 days. This is a real-world example of how the CODX technology can be used in an
evolving epidemic or pandemic to get diagnostic tools in the hands of medical professionals in a timely manner. It can be similarly used to design a test
for mutated strains of the virus should they not be detectable using currently available tests.

In addition, continued development has demonstrated the unique properties of our CoPrimer technology that we believe makes it ideally suited for a
variety of applications where specificity is key to optimal results, including multiplexing several targets, enhanced Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
(“SNP") detection and enrichment for next generation sequencing.

Our scientists use the complex mathematics of DNA/RNA PCR test design to engineer and optimize PCR tests and to automate algorithms that rapidly
screen millions of possible options to pinpoint the optimum design. The intellectual property we use in our business, consisting of the predictive
mathematical algorithms and patented molecular structure used in the testing process, which together represents a major advance in PCR testing
systems. CODX technologies are now protected by more than 20 granted or pending US and foreign patents, as well as certain trade secrets and
copyrights. Ownership of our proprietary platform permits us the advantage of avoiding payment of patent royalties required by other PCR test systems,
which may allow the sale of diagnostic PCR tests at a lower price than competitors, while enabling us to maintain profit margins.

Our proprietary test design process involves identifying the optimal locations on the target genes for amplification and pair the locations with the
optimized primer and probe structure to achieve outputs that meet the design input requirements identified from market research. This is done by
following planned and documented processes, procedures and testing. In other words, we use the data resulting from our tests to verify whether we



succeeded in designing what we intended. Verification involves a series of testing that concludes that the product is ready to proceed to validation in an
evaluation either in our laboratory or in an independent laboratory setting using initial production tests to confirm that the product as designed meets the
user needs.

Using our proprietary test design system and proprietary reagents, we have designed and obtained regulatory approval in the European Community and
in India to sell PCR diagnostic tests for the detection of COVID-19, influenza, tuberculosis, hepatitis B and C, human papillomavirus, malaria,
chikungunya, dengue, and the Zika virus. In the United States, we obtained Emergency Use Authorization (“EUA”) for our Logix Smart® COVID-19
detection test from the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and we sell that test to qualified labs. In addition, our COVID-19 detection test and certain
of our other suite of COVID-19 products have been approved for sale in countries such as the United Kingdom, Australia and Mexico by the regulatory
bodies in those countries and have been registered for sale in many more countries. In connection with the sale of our tests we may sell diagnostic
equipment from other manufacturers as self-contained lab systems (which we refer to as the “MDx Device”).

In addition to testing for infectious disease, the technology lends itself to identifying any section of a DNA or RNA strand that describes any type of
genetic trait, which creates several significant applications. We, in conjunction with our customers, have designed and licensed tests that identify genetic
traits in plant and animal genomes. We also have three multiplexed tests developed to test mosquitos for the identification of diseases carried by the
mosquitos to enable municipalities to concentrate their efforts in managing mosquito populations on the specific areas known to be breeding the
mosquitos that carry deadly viruses.

Co-Dx PCR Platform

We believe the benefits of affordable, high-quality diagnostics should be available to everyone. High-quality point-of-care PCR testing plays a crucial role
in healthcare. It enables rapid diagnosis of infectious diseases, such as COVID-19 or tuberculosis, facilitating timely treatment and containment
measures. By delivering results on-site, it eliminates the need for sample transportation, reducing the risk that the sample is transported incorrectly or lost
enroute, reducing turnaround time to results, and allowing for immediate decision-making. The quality of PCR testing at the point of care ensures reliable
detection of pathogens, minimizing incorrect results. In short, high-quality PCR testing at home and at the point of care enhances patient care, public
health response, and helps control the spread of infectious diseases. That is why we are developing the Co-Dx PCR platform utilizing our Co-Primers™
real-time PCR technology for at-home and point-of-care testing. Because we believe that testing for COVID-19 and other infectious diseases will continue
to be a consideration for public health worldwide, we initiated the Co-Dx PCR platform to facilitate frequent, affordable, reliable polymerase chain
reaction (“PCR”") testing to patients in point-of-care and at-home settings, including schools, businesses, and the hospitality industry. We believe this may
be accomplished through the development of a testing system comprised of a compact, relatively low-cost testing device, the Co-Dx PCR Pro
instrument, together with proprietary diagnostic test cups that work with the Co-Dx Pro instrument and a mobile application, that is easy to use by
professionals and non-professionals, that can provide PCR test results in around 30 minutes. We believe that as user test results are gathered in the
cloud following completion of tests, the data may be useful for governmental health agencies and the World Health Organization to determine where
outbreaks of infectious diseases may be occurring and enable them to act more quickly and efficiently and slow-down or perhaps even prevent further
spread.

The 6 2" x 4 1/2" x 6", 2 Ibs. Co-Dx PCR Pro instrument operates via a smartphone app with simple-to-follow instructions that includes videos to walk
users through every step, some sample swab collection to the straightforward instrument operation. Results are processed in the cloud and delivered
back to the user's smartphone or tablet in about 30 minutes using software designed from the ground-up for this specific use. The PCR tests themselves
(contained in the simple but unique, innovative test collection cups) are powered by patented Co-Dx Co-Primers PCR technology.

The initial diagnostic test designed for use on this platform, an at-home and point-of-care COVID-19 PCR test, was ultimately facilitated by our
development of a saliva or nasal swab-based PCR test that does not require RNA/DNA extraction. The final result is believed to be approximately
equivalent to those processed by a high-complexity clinical laboratory. Our COVID-19 PCR platform test has the advantages of increased speed and
ease of handling thanks to lyophilization (or freeze-drying) of our testing reagents to allow for stability at room temperatures. In December 2023, we
submitted our proprietary Co-Dx PCR COVID-19 test cups with the Co-Dx PCR Pro instrument and mobile application, all designed for use in point-of-
care and at-home settings, for review by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for Emergency Use Authorization (EUA). We are also preparing a
510K for submission to the FDA should the FDA decline to grant our emergency use authorization request.

We expect to develop further diagnostic tests for use with the PCR Pro instrument, including a multiplex test for influenza, RSV and COVID-19. To that
effect, we were awarded $1.2 million in funding from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) as part of the Rapid Acceleration of Diagnostics (RADx®)
Tech program for completion of our upper respiratory panel diagnostic test for use on the Company’s Co-Dx PCR platform. We will utilize the funds from
the RADx Tech award to complete development of our flu A/B, COVID-19, and RSV multiplex test, preparatory for that test to begin clinical trials on the
Co-Dx PCR Pro instrument. The NIH launched the RADXx initiative on April 29, 2020, with the goal of speeding innovation in the development,
commercialization, and implementation of technologies for COVID-19 testing, leveraging the existing NIH Point-of-Care Technology Research Network.
The RADx Tech program is managed by the National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering (NIBIB), to support the accelerated
development of tests and provide regulatory guidance during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond.
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We are also developing diagnostics tests for TB and HPV for use with our Co-Dx PCR platform. We have been awarded two grants in the amounts of
$10.23 million and $987,000 by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation to support the development and manufacture of TB and HPV tests for our Co-Dx
PCR platform. In 2014, all United Nations Member States and the World Health Organization (WHO) committed to ending the global TB epidemic by
2030, before the COVID-19 pandemic slowed, stalled or reversed progress of global TB targets. The WHO estimates that roughly 4.2 million cases of TB
went unidentified in 2021 worldwide, representing nearly 40% of actual cases, highlighting the need for a dramatic increase of affordable, high-quality,
point-of-care TB diagnostics to enable rapid treatment decisions to be made for a disease that has a mortality rate of about 50% if left untreated. The
National Cancer Institute estimates that high-risk HPVs cause roughly 5% of all cancers worldwide, with the rate among women being nearly 10 times
higher than that for men and leading to an estimated 264,000 cervical cancer deaths each year according to the WHO. More than 85% of these deaths
are in low- and middle-income countries, and all of which the WHO believes can be dramatically reduced by access to diagnostics, vaccinations, and
cancer screenings.

Infectious Disease Product Offering

Using our proprietary test design system and proprietary reagents, we and CoSara Diagnostics Pvt Ltd (“CoSara”), our joint venture for manufacturing in
India, design and sell PCR diagnostic tests for detection of diseases and pathogens such as COVID-19, influenza, tuberculosis, hepatitis B and C,
malaria, dengue, human papillomavirus, chikungunya, and Zika virus, all of which tests have been designed and verified in our laboratories. Our
tuberculosis test and Zika test received a CE Mark in 2018, and a triplex test for Zika, dengue and chikungunya received a CE Mark in 2019, qualifying
the tests to be sold throughout the European community and in most countries in Central and South America. In December 2019, CoSara received a
license to manufacture and sell tuberculosis, hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human papillomavirus 16/18 and malaria tests in India from the Central Drugs
Standard Control Organization (“CDSCO"). In February 2020, we received a CE Mark for our Logix Smart COVID-19 test followed by an EUA by the FDA
in April 2020. Also, in April 2020, our COVID-19 test was approved for manufacture and sale in India by the CDSCO and in Mexico by the INDRE,



Mexico’s equivalent to the United States Center for Disease Control. In August 2020, we received approval from the Australian Department of Health
Therapeutic Goods Division to sell our COVID-19 test in Australia.

As explained above, our Logix Smart COVID-19 test was designed, developed, submitted for regulatory approval and ready to be used as an in vitro
diagnostic or IVD in countries that accept a CE Mark as approval for use of the test in a period of just over 30 days. This is a real-world example of how
the CODX technology can be used in an evolving epidemic or pandemic to get diagnostic tools in the hands of medical professionals in a timely manner.
It can be similarly used to design a test for mutated strains of the virus should they not be detectable using currently available tests.

Caribbean and Central and South America

We began selling PCR diagnostic tests to entities located in South and Central America and the Caribbean in 2018. In some of those countries, there are
limited regulatory hurdles, allowing us to begin offering our tests immediately. We have applied for and received registrations for our tests in many of
those countries that require registration, and our distributors in those countries have provided us with in-country assistance in completing such
registrations.

We first offered our Zika test in this region because of the demand for such a test, followed by tests for tuberculosis, and our triplex test for Zika,
chikungunya, and dengue. Sales of those tests have not been material, but with the granting of a CE mark for our Logix Smart COVID-19, we
experienced an increase in sales in this region.

India

In January 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to manufacture diagnostics tests for seven infectious diseases with a pharmaceutical
manufacturing company in India and formed CoSara as an Indian joint venture. The agreement provided for the construction of a manufacturing plant
and the manufacture of the tests named above and the joint sales and marketing of those tests in India. We have received a license for the plant in
Ranoli, India to manufacture approved tests and it is being used for testing and manufacturing of our products for the Indian market.

As mentioned above, the CDSCO has given us the approval for manufacture and sale of the 15 tests referred to above, and the Company’s joint venture
manufactures and sells those tests. The Company manages a reagent rental program in India with thermocyclers purchased from third-party vendors
and which we refer to as our MDx Device. The placement of thermocyclers in India has facilitated the sale of the SaraGene PCR tests in India. The WHO
2022 Global Tuberculosis Report indicates that India is the country with the highest number of cases of tuberculosis in the world. WHO tuberculosis
statistics for India for 2022 give an estimated incidence figure of 2.82 million cases of tuberculosis for India out of a global incidence of approximately 10.0
million.

On March 19, 2020, we announced that CoSara received authorization to manufacture and sell COVID-19 tests in India. Those tests in India are branded
as SaraGene COVID-19 tests and are sold exclusively by CoSara. The Indian government places restrictions on the price that could be charged for
COVID-19 tests which limited the revenue in India more than we experienced in other parts of the world. At the time of this report, CoSara has received
CDSCO clearance for RT-PCR tests for Mycobacterium tuberculosis, malaria, hepatitis B, hepatitis C (including viral load tests for both hepatitis B and
C), human papillomavirus (HPV), a test for high-risk HPV, two COVID-19 assays, chikungunya, dengue, a dengue/chikungunya duplex test, an influenza
Alinfluenza B/COVID-19 (“ABC”) multiplex test, and in 2024 CDSCO cleared the manufacture and sell SARAPLEX™ Influenza Multiplex (IFM) Test Kit to
clinical laboratories as an in vitro diagnostic for the detection and differentiation of Influenza A and Influenza B.

Europe

Molecular diagnostics, such as our tests, are governed in Europe by the framework for IVDs, which encompasses diagnostic products such as reagents,
instruments and systems intended for use in diagnosis of disease. The regulatory system for some 1VDs has historically allowed for a self-certification
procedure, placing heavy responsibility on manufacturers. Non self-certified products were subject to the same standards as self-certified products but
were also subject to audit and review by a notified body prior to receiving approval to be CE-marked. A CE-marking is a manufacturer’s declaration that a
product meets the requirements of the applicable European Commission directive. Examples of current obligations include having in place a qualitative
manufacturing process, user instructions that are clear and fit for purpose, and ensuring that the ‘physical’ features of devices and diagnostics do not
pose any danger. If a product fulfils these and other related control requirements, it may be CE-marked, as an indication that the product is compliant with
EU legislation and sold in the European Union. We have received CE Marks for six of our tests including for COVID-19, COVID-19 (2 gene test), ABC (a
triplex test for Flu A, Flu B and COVID-19), a DS (Direct Saliva, extraction-free) COVID-19 test, tuberculosis, Zika, and our Zika, dengue, chikungunya
triplex tests. The European Commission has revised its directive governing the CE- marking of IVDs, which included reclassifying which IVDs may be
self-certified, and which may not. As a result of this change in directive and reclassification, substantially all of the Company’s products are now subject to
audit and review by a notified body, as well as a more rigorous clinical evaluation process, prior to receiving approval to be CE-marked.

We are I1SO 13485:2016 certified, relating to the design and manufacture of our medical device products. The ISO certification indicates that we meet the
standards required to pursue CE-marking for certain of our products and affix a CE-marking for sales of our products in countries accepting CE-marking
(not in the United States).

United States

The FDA has granted permission for us to export all of our IVD products. The FDA's permission to export was granted under Section 801(e) of the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended (the “FDC Act”). Section 801(e) of the FDA Act covers certain medical devices that have not yet
received an approved Premarket Approval in the United States by the FDA, such as our products. We have not commenced any Premarket Approval
steps with the FDA. Section 801(e) of the FDA Act applies to medical devices that are acceptable to the importing country and that are manufactured
under the FDA's Good Manufacturing Practices. We have received EUA for our COVID-19 test, which allows sales to qualified labs in the United States
and facilitates the registration for sale in other countries as well. Under the FDA's existing policy, the FDA continues to review a prioritized subset of
COVID-19 tests for EUAs, and emphasizes that traditional device premarket review pathways remain open to all developers. We intend to pursue all
appropriate FDA review pathways for products under development, including traditional premarket review pathways.

Under our EUA, we are actively selling our Logix Smart COVID-19 test to CLIA certified laboratories in the United States. The CLIA labs are able to use
our test, or to further validate our COVID-19 tests (or other tests) as Laboratory Developed Tests (LDTs), which refers to a diagnostic test that has been
validated for use in the CLIA lab. LDTs may be used by the lab only in that laboratory. CLIA laboratories develop the performance characteristics,
perform the analytical validation for their LDTs and obtain licenses to offer them as diagnostic services. We are currently marketing our Logix Smart
COVID-19 test to CLIA laboratories throughout the US.

Market Opportunity



The market opportunity for our tests changed radically with the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic. Because we were able to respond rapidly and
produce a quality product, we have been able to build a worldwide distribution network, most of which have been the sales network that has allowed us to
export products throughout the world. Our network of distributors that we have built over the past three years will serve us well in sales and distribution of
other diagnostic tests and our forthcoming PCR diagnostic platform.

The molecular diagnostics market is a fast-growing portion of the in vitro (test tube-based, controlled environment) diagnostics market. There are several
advantages of PCR tests, such as the ones we market and sell, over other forms of diagnostic testing. These advantages include higher specificity and
sensitivity, the ability to perform multiplex tests and the ability to test for drug resistance or for individual genes.

Mosquito Vector Control Services

In response to market demand, in June 2019 we introduced our first diagnostics tests to be used exclusively to test for mosquito borne pathogens in
mosquito populations. Municipalities in the US and many other countries in the world are concerned about the diseases carried by mosquitos, which
infect the human population. To prevent outbreaks of potentially harmful viruses such as Zika or West Nile from infecting the public, many municipalities
conduct mitigation operations to eliminate the mosquito populations carrying the diseases. Because it is too expensive and potentially harmful to the
environment to spray all mosquito breeding areas, municipalities identify which particular area has mosquitos that are carrying the harmful viruses. To
know where the host mosquitos with the harmful viruses are located, traps are set, mosquitos collected and then tested to find the areas that most
needed spraying. There are over 3,000 mosquito abatement districts throughout the United States and almost all of them conduct testing to help make
the spraying more effective.

Our first vector related test was a triplex test that tests for West Nile, western equine and St. Louis encephalitis. We began shipping the tests in June
2019. We added a second test that tests mosquitos for Zika, chikungunya and dengue in a triplex test. Finally, in November 2019, we completed a test
for West Nile, eastern equine and St. Louis encephalitis, specifically for use in the eastern United States. As a result, mosquito abatement districts can
test for three target viruses in one test as compared to performing three different tests using other market available tests. Our products allow
municipalities to obtain test results in a matter of hours, instead of the weeks they might otherwise have to wait for a central lab to process the mosquito
tests.

We have sold our Vector Smart™ test products and/or related lab equipment to testing districts in different sections of the country and are marketing our
products through trade shows, electronic and regular mail solicitations.

Liquid Biopsy for Cancer Screening

The enhanced specificity of our technology opens up some unique applications for liquid biopsy, demonstrating its ability to detect small quantities of
mutations associated with cancer within an environment of large amounts of normal DNA, as we position the Company to take part in this historic and
challenging development in human health care.

Agricultural Applications

SNP detection is also used in the agricultural industry to identify variations in crop genomes to achieve improved seed viability and other desired
characteristics, including drought resistance, disease resistance, pest resistance and higher yield.

In mid-2017, the Company was first approached by a large agribusiness to evaluate our ability to multiplex certain target genomes. The results of the
development project have successfully demonstrated our ability to not only multiplex the target genomes, but targeted SNP’s as well. The project was
undertaken in conjunction with the manufacturer of our CoPrimers tests. The results of the project encouraged the parent of our manufacturer to seek a
world-wide licensing arrangement for our CoPrimers in the agricultural industry, which was completed in October 2018. Pursuant to the exclusive license
for the agronomics industry, the licensee pays us a royalty for all CoPrimers sold to the licensee’s customers. In January 2019, the licensee formally
introduced the product at a large agricultural conference and has branded the product under the name “BHQ CoPrimers”.
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Additional Licensing and Assay Development

We believe the unique properties of our CoPrimers technology make them ideally suited to a variety of applications where sensitivity is key to optimal
results, including multiplexing several targets, enhanced SNP detection and enrichment for next generation sequencing. Our licensee for our agricultural
testing requested an expansion of our license agreement to include test design services for their customers and potential customers, both in the
infectious disease arena as well as for agricultural customers. The license was amended in July 2019 and we expect to derive a license fee from our
licensee for its design services. If any of its customers desire to commercialize the tests designed, they will need to seek a commercial license directly
from us. Thanks to these unique characteristics of CoPrimers, research companies and institutions have requested that we design diagnostics to locate
and identify uncommon gene sequences and SNPs and create tests for the target sequences in a multiplexed reaction. This application of our technology
is in its beginning stages, but we believe that the results from our initial research indicate a significant step forward in defining the capabilities of our
technology, which we believe can be translated to revenue producing licensing arrangements. However, there can be no guarantee that we will be able to
develop the requested capabilities, or that we will be able to successfully commercialize this application of our technology.

Competitive Advantages of Co-Diagnostics
We believe that we have the following competitive advantages:

e Affordability: Lower-cost test kits, a low-cost MDx-device, and an affordable Co-Dx PCR platform for at-home and point-of-care testing (the
platform is subject to FDA review and not available for sale at the time of this filing).

e Flexibility: CODX’s tests have been designed to run on many customers’ DNA/RNA diagnostic testing machines. Our technology is well
suited to the new generation of point-of-care testing (“POCT”), compact and portable analysis machinery for field, clinical and office
applications.

e Speed: We believe our rapid assay design system software provides shorter time to product release. This has been demonstrated with the
conception, design, product manufacture, clinical verification and submission for a CE Mark for our Logix Smart COVID-19 test being
approximately 30 days.

e Accuracy: We believe our technology allows us to build tests that are highly sensitive and specific, the two benchmarks for accuracy in PCR
testing.

e Personalized Medicine: We project that rising health care costs in developed and developing nations will increasingly require that health
care systems be patient-specific to eliminate waste, misdiagnoses, and ineffectiveness. A critical component will be accurate, more
affordable DNA-based diagnostics, especially in at-home and POCT settings, for which we are developing products.



e Low-cost Provider: Our platform technology obviates the need to pay patent royalties typically required of our competitors, which use third-
party patented test platforms to design their tests.

e Worldwide Footprint: With a dynamic technology that encompasses markets worldwide, we anticipate that we can identify the best target
markets, not only in high burden developing countries but also in developed nations.

e Data Collection: With the anticipated deployment of the Co-Dx PCR platform we expect to play a role in centralizing global data collection
on infectious diseases that may contribute to faster vaccination and therapeutic responses from health authorities.

e Growth Industry Category: We believe that real-time PCR testing is the fastest-growing segment of in vitro diagnostic testing.

e Combination Product Offering: Our sensitive tests can be a well-designed match for a new generation of compact and other small POCT
devices now entering the market, including our own MDx and Co-Dx PCR Pro instruments. Used together, we believe these affordable tests
and devices have the potential to revolutionize the molecular diagnostics industry in cost, speed of test results and simplification.

e Multiplexing: Our existing multiplexed tests demonstrate that our CoPrimer-designed tests are able to test for multiple targets in the same
sample without the distortion caused by false negatives and false positives that often occur in multiplexed tests.
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Intellectual Property

Much of our future success and value depends on our proprietary technology, and therefore, our patent and intellectual property strategy is of critical
importance. Currently, our flagship CoPrimers technology is covered by two U.S. patents titled “Cooperative primers, probes, and applications thereof” as
well as by granted and pending foreign counterparts. We have another three U.S. patents directed to our earlier work in primer and assay designs. For
more recent works, we have filed international and U.S. patent applications directed to “Methods and Compositions for Next Generation Sequencing
(NGS) Library Preparation,” “Allele-Specific Design of Cooperative Primers for Improved Nucleic Acid Variant Genotyping,” “Methods and Compositions
Related to Cooperative Primers and Reverse Transcription,” and “Systems, Methods, and Apparatus for Automated Self-Contained Biological Analysis”
which is the basis of our at-home and point-of-care PCR system. We intend to continue building our patent portfolio as development continues and
resources are available.

We also protect some of our technology and know-how as trade secrets and, where appropriate, we use and register trademarks to protect and
strengthen our products and proprietary brands. All trademarks, trade/product names, graphics and logos of Co-Diagnostics contained herein are
trademarks of Co-Diagnostics or its subsidiary, as applicable, in the U.S. and/or other countries. Solely for convenience, we may refer to trademarks in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K without the ™ or ® symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, our rights to our trademarks.

Major Customers

The Company had certain customers which were each responsible for generating 10% or more of the total revenue for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. Two customers accounted for approximately 28% of product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 and one
customer accounted for approximately 37% of product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022. One granting agency accounted for 100% of
grant revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. These customers and granting agencies may not account for the same percentage of product
revenue or grant revenue in future periods. If we were to sell nothing to those customers in the future, it would have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition unless we were able to replace those customers with others.

Competition

The molecular diagnostics industry is extremely competitive. There are many firms that provide some or all of the products we provide and provide many
diagnostic tests that we have yet to develop. Many of these competitors are larger than us and have significantly greater financial resources. Because we
are more recently established, many of our competitors have a competitive advantage in the diagnostic testing industry because they also have other
lines of business in the pharmaceutical industry from which they derive revenues and for which they are well known and respected in the medical
profession. We will need to overcome the disadvantage of being perceived as a start up with no significant recognition from the medical and testing
professionals, although we believe this is changing as we continue to market our Logix Smart COVID-19 tests and other tests in the United States to well-
known and successful laboratories. Many of these competitors already have an established customer base with industry standard technology, which we
must overcome to be successful. In the diagnostic testing and POCT industries, we compete with such companies as BioMerieux, Siemens, Qiagen, Cue
Health, Lumira Dx and Cepheid and with such pharmaceutical companies as Abbott Laboratories, Becton Dickinson and Johnson and Johnson. We also
compete with companies from Asia in certain markets who are willing to sell their tests for much less than we sell our tests, which creates competitive
price pressure on us in certain regions, particularly Asia and Latin America.
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We expect competition to continue to increase as other established and emerging companies enter the market, as customer requirements evolve, and as
new products, services and technologies are introduced. Some of our existing or new competitors may have strong relationships with current and
potential customers, including governmental authorities, and, as a result, may be able to respond more quickly to new or changing regulatory
requirements, new or emerging technologies, and changes in customer requirements.

Government Regulation

In the United States, we are regulated by the FDA and our products must be approved, cleared, or authorized by the FDA before we are allowed to sell
our tests in the United States as in vitro diagnostics. The FDA granted us an EUA to manufacture and sell our Logix Smart COVID-19 test to CLIA labs in
the United States. We are 1SO 13485:2016 certified, relating to the design and manufacture of our medical device products. Being ISO certified greatly
facilitates our applications for CE-Marking, which allows us to sell any CE Marked test in most countries in Europe, South America and Asia, depending
on the country and following that country’s registration process. We currently have CE Markings issued for our Logix Smart COVID-19 test, tuberculosis
test, our Zika virus test, a triplex test that tests for Zika, dengue, and chikungunya simultaneously, a triplex “ABC” test that identifies and distinguishes
between Flu A, Flu B and Covid-19, our SARS-CoV-2 2-gene multiplex test, and our DS (Direct Saliva, extraction-free) COVID-19 test. In addition, our
Logix Smart COVID-19 has received the required license to manufacture and sell in India from India’'s CDSCO, and The National Epidemiology Institute
in Mexico evaluated our Logix Smart COVID-19 and ABC tests and approved them for sale in Mexico. We have also received approval to sell in Australia.

Employees

As of December 31, 2023, we had 155 full-time and part-time employees at our executive offices and lab facilities in Salt Lake City, Utah. We have



engaged independent contractors to promote the use of our products and develop outlets for products and employ the services of independent sales
representatives on an “as needed” basis.

We consider our people and the way we work to support each other and serve our customers to be critical to our success. The key human capital
measures and objectives that we focus on in managing our business are: maintaining a strong and collaborative company culture, increasing our
diversity, inclusion and belonging, offering fair and competitive compensation and benefits, investing in people and organizational development,
protecting and enriching employee health and wellness, and sustaining a culture of respectful and effective communications.

Organizational History and Corporate Information
We were incorporated as Co-Diagnostics, Inc., in Utah on April 18, 2013. Our principal executive office is located at 2401 S. Foothill Drive, Salt Lake City,

Utah 84109. Our telephone number is (801) 438-1036. Our web address is www.codiagnostics.com. The contents of our website are not incorporated by
reference in this Annual Report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have limited commercial history upon which to base our prospects and are not certain that we will achieve profitability in the future.

We have a limited operating history. We began operations in April 2013. Our accumulated retained earnings were $4.6 million and $39.9 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. During the calendar years ending December 31, 2023 and 2022 we experienced a decline in demand for our
Logix Smart COVID-19 and other COVID-19 tests and operated at a net loss during the periods. We do not have any way of predicting when or if we will
achieve profitability again. Potential investors should be aware of the difficulties normally encountered by a new enterprise, many of which are beyond
our control, including substantial risks and expenses in the course of developing new diagnostic tests, establishing or entering new markets, organizing
operations and marketing procedures. The likelihood of our success must be considered in light of these risks, expenses, complications and delays, and
the competitive environment in which we operate. There is, therefore, nothing at this time upon which to base an assumption that our business plan will
prove successful, and we may not be able to generate significant revenue, raise additional capital or operate profitably. We will continue to encounter
risks and difficulties frequently experienced by early commercial stage companies, including scaling up our infrastructure and headcount, and may
encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties or delays in connection with our growth. In addition, as a result of the start-up nature of our business, we
expect to continue to sustain substantial operating expenses and may not be able to continue generating sufficient revenues to cover expenditures. Any
investment in our company is therefore highly speculative and could result in the loss of any investment.

Our future success is dependent on our development of our Co-Dx PCR platform and securing regulatory approval for the platform including
the PCR Pro instrument and related diagnostic tests, demand for infectious disease diagnostics and upon our ability to develop and market
other commercially accepted diagnostic tests for our PCR platform.
Our future success will depend, in part, on our development of our Co-Dx PCR platform and securing regulatory approval for the platform including the
PCR Pro instrument and related diagnostic tests, our ability to develop and sell sufficient quantities of other diagnostics tests, and our ability to
successfully and profitably market our Co-Dx PCR platform. Attracting new customers and distribution networks requires substantial time and expense.
Any failure to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates and to increase sales of our diagnostic tests in sufficient quantities to achieve
profitability in a timely manner would adversely affect our operating results. Many factors could affect the market acceptance and commercial success of
any of our diagnostic tests and devices, including:

e Our ability to develop additional infectious disease diagnostic tests for which there is a commercial market;

e Our ability to obtain regulatory clearance to commercialize our product candidates;

e our ability to convince our potential customers of the advantages and economic value of our tests over competing technologies and
diagnostic tests;

e the breadth of our test menu relative to competitors;

e changes to policies, procedures or currently accepted best practices in clinical diagnostic testing;

e the extent and success of our marketing and sales efforts; and
e our ability to manufacture in quantity our commercial diagnostic tests and meet demand in a timely fashion.
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The diagnostic market is highly competitive, and we may not be able to compete effectively against the larger, well-established companies that
dominate this market or emerging and small innovative companies that may seek to obtain or increase their share of the market.

The markets for diagnostic products are intensely competitive, and many of our competitors are much larger and have substantially more financial and
human resources than we do. Many have long histories and strong reputations within the industry, and a relatively small number of companies dominate
these markets.

These companies enjoy significant competitive advantages over us, including:

e broad product offerings, which address the needs of health care providers in a wide range of applications;
products that are supported by long-term clinical data;

e greater experience in, and resources for, launching, marketing, distributing and selling products, including strong sales forces and
established distribution networks;

e extensive intellectual property portfolios and greater resources for patent protection;

e greater financial and other resources for product research and development;



e greater experience in obtaining and maintaining FDA and other regulatory clearances and approvals for products and product
enhancements;

e established manufacturing operations and contract manufacturing relationships;
e significantly greater name recognition and widely recognized trademarks; and
e established relationships with healthcare providers and payers.

Our products and any product candidates that we may introduce into the market may not enable us to overcome the competitive advantages of these
large and dominant companies. In addition, even if we successfully introduce additional product candidates into the market, emerging and small
innovative companies may seek to increase their market share and they may eventually possess competitive advantages, which could adversely impact
our business. Our competitors may also employ pricing strategies that could adversely affect the pricing of our products.

We depend on a limited number of third-party suppliers for key raw materials used in the manufacturing of our products, and the loss of these
third-party suppliers or their inability to supply us with adequate raw materials could harm our business.

We rely on a limited number of third-party suppliers for the raw materials required for the production of our diagnostic products and product candidates.
Our dependence on a limited number of third-party suppliers involves several risks, including limited control over pricing, availability, quality, and delivery
schedules for raw materials. We have no supply agreements in place with any of our suppliers and cannot be certain that our current suppliers will
continue to provide us with the quantities of raw materials that we require or that satisfy our anticipated specifications and quality requirements. Any
supply interruption in limited or single sourced raw materials could materially harm our ability to manufacture our products until a new source of supply, if
any, could be identified and qualified. We may be unable to find a sufficient alternative supply channel within a reasonable time or on commercially
reasonable terms. Any performance failure on the part of our suppliers could delay the production of our products and product candidates and delay the
development and commercialization of our product candidates, including limiting supplies necessary for commercial sale, clinical trials and regulatory
approvals, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In order to be successful, we must expand our available product lines by commercializing new product candidates, but we may not be able to
do so in a timely fashion and at expected costs, or at all.

Although we are currently manufacturing diagnostic kits for commercialization, in order to be successful, we will need to expand our product lines to
include other diagnostic products. To succeed in our commercialization efforts, we must effectively continue product development and testing, find new
strategic partners, obtain regulatory clearances and approvals, and enhance our sales and marketing capabilities. Because of these uncertainties, there is
no assurance that we will succeed in bringing any of our current or future product candidates to market. If we fail in bringing our product candidates to
market, or experience delays in doing so, we will not generate revenues as planned and will need to curtail operations or seek additional financing earlier
than otherwise anticipated.

We are dependent on our senior management team, scientific team, and external advisors, and the loss of any of them could harm our
business, including by adversely affecting our ability to effectuate our business strategy.

The members of our current senior management team may not be able to successfully implement our strategy. In addition, we have not entered into
employment agreements with any of the members of our senior management team. There are no assurances that the services of any of these individuals
will be available to us for any specified period of time. The successful integration of our senior management team, the loss of members of our senior
management team, scientific team and key external advisors, or our inability to attract or retain other qualified personnel or advisors could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may not have a sufficient number of qualified personnel to
effectuate our business strategy, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If we experience significant disruptions in our information technology systems, our business, results of operations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

The efficient operation of our business depends on our information technology systems. We rely on our information technology systems to effectively
manage our sales and marketing, accounting and financial functions; manufacturing processes; inventory; scientific and product development functions;
and our research and development functions. As such, our information technology systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption including from
earthquakes, fires, floods and other natural disasters; terrorist attacks and attacks by computer viruses or hackers; power losses; and computer systems,
or Internet, telecommunications or data network failures. The failure of our information technology systems to perform as we anticipate or our failure to
effectively implement new systems could disrupt our entire operation and could result in decreased sales, increased overhead costs, excess inventory
and product shortages, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.

Cybersecurity risks and the failure to maintain the integrity of company, employee or customer data could expose us to data loss, litigation
and liability, and our reputation could be significantly harmed.

We and third-party service providers collect and retain large volumes of data, including personally identifiable information regarding clinical trial
participants and others, for business purposes, including for regulatory, research and development and commercialization purposes, and our
collaborators’ various information technology systems enter, process, summarize and report such data. We also maintain personally identifiable
information about our employees. The integrity and protection of our company, employee and clinical data is critical to our business. We are subject to
significant data security and privacy laws and regulations. These regulations impose significant requirements on how we maintain, use, and protect such
information. Maintaining compliance with these evolving regulations and requirements could be difficult and may increase our expenses. In addition, a
penetrated or compromised data system or the intentional, inadvertent or negligent release or disclosure of data could result in theft, loss or fraudulent or
unlawful use of company, employee or clinical data which could harm our reputation, disrupt our operations, or result in remedial and other costs, fines or
lawsuits.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Products and Other Government Regulations

We received Emergency Use Authorization or EUA for our COVID-19 test in US. We applied for Emergency Use Authorization for our PCR
platform which included the PCR Pro instrument and the COVID 19 diagnostic test cup and mobile app. The FDA may not timely grant the EUA
we filed for the PCR platform or may require that we submit a 510K application rather than EUA. For our existing EUA and any new EUA, the
FDA may revoke any EUA where it is determined that the underlying health emergency no longer exists or warrants such authorization, which
would adversely impact our ability to market our COVID-19 test in the United States.

The FDA has the authority to grant an EUA to allow unapproved medical products to be used in an emergency to diagnose, treat or prevent serious or
life-threatening diseases or conditions when there are no adequate, approved and available alternatives. During the COVID 19 pandemic the FDA
determined that circumstances exist to justify the authorization of emergency use of medical devices, including alternative products used as medical



devices, during the COVID-19 pandemic. On April 3, 2020, we received an EUA from the FDA for our Logix Smart Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-
19) kit for use on individuals who are suspected of COVID-19 by their healthcare provider. We cannot predict how long the EUA for our COVID-19 test
will remain in place. The FDA may revoke an EUA where it is determined that the underlying health emergency no longer exists or warrants such
authorization. The FDA may take such a position at any time and without notice and, therefore, we cannot predict how long our EUAs will remain in place.
The FDA may also revoke an EUA when the circumstances justifying its issuance no longer exist, such as when an alternative is authorized for
marketing through the standard procedures, including through a 510(k) clearance.

We applied for Emergency Use Authorization for our PCR platform which included the PCR Pro instrument and the COVID 19 diagnostic test cup and
mobile app. The FDA may not timely grant the EUA we filed for the PCR platform or may require that we submit a 510K application rather than EUA
which could extend the time for authorization to begin commercializing the PCR platform. There can be no assurances that the FDA will authorize any
request for additional and/or amended EUAs and if we do not receive the authorization, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future
growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

If either of our existing EUAs is revoked or our existing EUA applications are denied prior to us having received regulatory approval to commercialize our
COVID-19 test through a traditional pathway, we may not be able to obtain required clearances or approvals in a timely manner, or at all, and one or
more of our competitors may obtain the necessary clearances or approvals for their products before we do. In addition, we would be required to cease
our commercialization efforts, which would substantially and negatively impact our business. As a result, any such revocation could adversely impact our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our long-term success depends substantially on our ability to obtain regulatory clearance or approval and thereafter commercialize our
product candidates; we cannot be certain that we will be able to do so in a timely manner or at all.

The process of obtaining regulatory clearances or approvals to market a medical diagnostic from the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside of the
United States can be costly and time consuming, and there can be no assurance that such clearances or approvals will be granted on a timely basis, or
at all. The FDA's 510(k) clearance process generally takes one to six months from the date of submission, depending on whether a special or traditional
510(k) premarket notification has been submitted, but can take significantly longer. An application for premarket approval, or PMA, must be submitted to
the FDA if the device cannot be cleared through the 510(k) clearance process or is not exempt from premarket review by the FDA. The PMA process
almost always requires one or more clinical trials and can take two to three years from the date of filing, or even longer.

If we are required to obtain approval of any of our products through the PMA process, the costs associated with such a process will be significant, which
could adversely affect our financial performance and results of operations. In addition, a submission through the PMA process would require us to delay
commercialization of such product candidates until after approval is received, if ever. If we are unable to commercialize our product candidates in a timely
manner, or at all, our business will be adversely affected.

Similar to our compliance with U.S. regulatory requirements, we must obtain and comply with international requirements, in order to market and sell our
products outside of the United States and we may only promote and market our products, if approved, as permitted by applicable regulatory authorities.
There is no guarantee that we will receive the necessary regulatory approvals for our product candidates either inside the United States or internationally.
If our product candidates do not receive necessary regulatory approvals, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

Our current and future relationships with third-party payers and current and potential customers in the United States and elsewhere may be
subject, directly or indirectly, to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, false claims, transparency, health information privacy and security
and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational
harm administrative burdens and diminished profits and future earnings.

Our current and future arrangements with third-party payers and current and potential customers, including providers and physicians, may expose us to
broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the
federal False Claims Act, which may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we sell, market and distribute our
products. In addition, we may be subject to transparency laws and patient privacy regulations by U.S. federal and state governments and by governments
in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations that may affect our
ability to operate include:

e the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or
the purchase, order or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs, such
as Medicare and Medicaid,;

e federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including the federal False Claims Act, which impose criminal and
civil penalties, including civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be
presented, to the federal government, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, claims for payment that are false or fraudulent or
making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government;

e the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a
scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

e HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and their respective
implementing regulations, which impose obligations on covered healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, as well
as their business associates that create, receive, maintain or transmit individually identifiable health information for or on behalf of a covered
entity, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

e the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires (i) manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment
is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to report annually to CMS
information related to certain “payments or other transfers of value” made to physicians, which is defined to include doctors, dentists,
optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors, and teaching hospitals, (ii) applicable manufacturers and applicable group purchasing
organizations to report annually to CMS ownership and investment interests held in such entities by physicians and their immediate family

members, with data collection beginning on August 1, 2013, (iii) manufacturers to submit reports to CMS by the goth day of each calendar
year, and (iv) disclosure of such information by CMS on a publicly available website; and



e analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payers, including private
insurers; state and foreign laws that require medical device companies to comply with the medical device industry’s voluntary compliance
guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or otherwise restrict payments that may be made
to healthcare providers; state and foreign laws that require medical device manufacturers to report information related to payments and other
transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state and foreign laws governing the privacy
and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not
preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.
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Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations may involve substantial
costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or
case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws
or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, including, without
limitation, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. If any of the physicians or other healthcare
providers or entities with whom we expect to do business, including our collaborators, are found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, they may be
subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from participation in government healthcare programs, which could also
materially affect our business.

We are subject to stringent and changing data protection laws, privacy policies and data protection obligations, which continue to evolve and
change over time. The actual or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers or vendors to comply with such obligations could
harm our reputation, subject us to significant fines and liability, or otherwise adversely affect our business.

We are subject to numerous data protection laws that govern the processing of individually identifiable information and health information and other
sensitive and personal information in the jurisdictions in which we operate. In many instances, these data protection laws, regulations and standards
apply not only to disclosures to third parties, but also to transfers of information between or among us and other parties with which we have commercial
relationships. The regulatory framework for data privacy, data security and data transfers worldwide is rapidly evolving and, as a result, interpretation and
implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. These data protection laws may be
interpreted and applied differently over time and from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and it is possible that they will be interpreted and applied in ways that will
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Failure to comply with any of these data protection laws could
result in enforcement actions against us, including fines, imprisonment of company officials and public censure, claims for damages by affected
individuals, damage to our reputation and loss of goodwill, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

There are numerous U.S. federal and state laws and regulations related to the privacy and security of personal information. These laws and regulations
include the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and
Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, and their implementing regulations, or collectively referred to as the HIPAA Rules, which establish a set of
national privacy and security standards to safeguard Protected Health Information, or PHI, by health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and certain
healthcare providers, referred to as covered entities, and the business associates and their subcontractors with whom such covered entities contract for
services that involve the creation, receipt, maintenance or transmission of PHI for or on behalf of a covered entity or another business associate. HIPAA
requires covered entities and business associates to, among other things, develop and maintain policies and procedures with respect to PHI that is used
or disclosed, including the adoption of administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect such information and ensure the confidentiality,
integrity and availability of electronic PHI. As this applies to our business, we are required to maintain security standards for any PHI that we create,
receive, maintain or transmit. For example, we plan to offer cloud-based portal software to help our customers more efficiently use our products. The
software will maintain security safeguards that are designed to be consistent with the HIPAA Rules, but we cannot guarantee that these safeguards will
not fail or that they will not be deemed inadequate in the future. In addition, we could be subject to periodic audits for compliance with the HIPAA Privacy
and Security Standards by the U.S. HHS, and our customers. The U.S. HHS Office for Civil Rights may impose significant penalties on entities subject to
HIPAA for a failure to comply with a requirement of the HIPAA Rules. If we are unable to properly protect the privacy and security of the PHI of our
customers, we could be found to have breached our contracts. Determining whether PHI has been handled in compliance with applicable privacy
standards and our contractual obligations can be complex and we cannot be sure how these regulations will be interpreted, enforced or applied to our
operations.

In addition, many states in which we operate have laws that protect the privacy and security of sensitive and personal information, including health-
related information. Certain state laws may be more stringent or broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with respect to sensitive and personal
information than federal, international or other state laws, and such laws may differ from each other, which may complicate compliance efforts.
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Laws, regulations and standards in many other jurisdictions also apply broadly to the Processing of personal information, which impose significant
compliance obligations. Complying with these numerous, complex and often changing regulations is expensive and difficult, and failure to comply with
any Data Protection Laws or any security incident or breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized use or disclosure of sensitive or
confidential information, whether by us, one of our service providers or another third party, could negatively affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations, including but not limited to: investigation costs, material fines and penalties; compensatory, special, punitive and statutory
damages; litigation; consent orders regarding our privacy and security practices; requirements that we provide notices, credit monitoring services or credit
restoration services or other relevant services to impacted individuals; adverse actions against our licenses to do business; and injunctive relief.

Many statutory requirements, both in the United States and abroad, include obligations for companies to notify individuals of security breaches involving
certain personal information, which could result from breaches experienced by us or our third-party service providers. For example, laws in all 50 U.S.
states and the District of Columbia require businesses to provide notice to consumers whose unencrypted personal information has been disclosed as a
result of a data breach. These laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is difficult and may be costly. Moreover,
states have been frequently amending existing laws, requiring attention to changing regulatory requirements. We also may be contractually required to
notify affected customers, regulators, credit reporting agencies or other affected individuals of a security breach. Such notifications are costly, and the
disclosures or the failure to comply with such requirements, could lead to material adverse effects, including without limitation, negative publicity, a loss of
customer confidence in our services or security measures or breach of contract claims. There can be no assurance that the limitations of liability in our
contracts would be enforceable or adequate or would otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages if we fail to comply with applicable Data Protection
Laws, Data Protection Obligations or other legal obligations. In addition, although we may have contractual protections with our third-party service
providers, contractors and consultants, any actual or perceived security breach by our subcontractors could harm our reputation and brand, expose us to
potential liability or require us to expend significant resources on data security and in responding to any such actual or perceived breach. Any contractual
protections we may have from our third-party service providers, contractors or consultants may not be sufficient to adequately protect us from any such
liabilities and losses, and we may be unable to enforce any such contractual protections.

We expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws and regulations concerning data privacy and security, and we cannot yet determine the



impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business. New laws, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws,
regulations, standards and other obligations may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations. Because the interpretation and
application of health-related and Data Protection Laws and other obligations are still uncertain, and often contradictory and in flux, it is possible that the
scope and requirements of these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our practices and our efforts to comply with
the evolving data protection rules may be unsuccessful. If so, this could result in government-imposed fines or orders requiring that we change our
practices, which could adversely affect our business.

We cannot assure you that our third-party partners and service providers with access to our or our customers’, suppliers’ and employees’ personally
identifiable and other sensitive or confidential information in relation to which we are responsible will not breach contractual obligations imposed by us or
violate Data Protection Laws, or that they will not experience security breaches or attempts thereof, which could have a corresponding effect on our
business, including putting us in breach of our obligations under the Data Protection Laws, which could in turn adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that our contractual measures and our own privacy- and security-related safeguards will protect
us from the risks associated with the third-party processing, storage and transmission of such information.

We may receive inquiries or be subject to investigations, proceedings or actions, by various government entities regarding our privacy and information
security practices and Processing (“Regulatory Proceedings”). These Regulatory Proceedings could result in a material adverse effect, including without
limitation, interruptions of, or required changes to, our business practices, the diversion resources and the attention of management from our business,
regulatory oversights and audits, discontinuance of necessary Processing, or other remedies that adversely affect our business.

17

In addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits, regulatory investigations, public censure, other claims and penalties, and significant costs for remediation
and damage to our reputation, we could be materially and adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in our data
processing practices and policies or if governing jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively impact our
business. Complying with these various laws could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices and compliance
procedures in a manner adverse to our business. Any inability to adequately address data privacy or security-related concerns, even if unfounded, or to
comply with applicable laws, regulations, standards and other obligations relating to data privacy and security, could result in additional cost and liability
to us, harm our reputation and brand, damage our relationships with customers and have a material and adverse impact on our business.

While we maintain general liability insurance coverage, cyber insurance coverage and other insurance, we cannot assure that such coverage will be
adequate or otherwise protect us from or adequately mitigate liabilities or damages with respect to claims, costs, expenses, litigation, fines, penalties,
business loss, data loss, regulatory actions or material adverse effects arising out of our privacy and security practices, Processing or security breaches
we may experience, or that such coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or at all. The successful assertion of one or more large claims
against us that exceeds our available insurance coverage, or results in changes to our insurance policies (including premium increases or the imposition
of large deductible or co-insurance requirements), could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, we cannot be sure that our existing
insurance coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or that our insurers will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

We may incur substantial costs in our efforts to comply with evolving global data protection laws and regulations, and any failure or
perceived failure by us to comply with such laws and regulations may harm our business and operations.

The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and we may be or become subject to or affected by numerous federal, state and foreign laws
and regulations, as well as regulatory guidance, governing the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, security and processing of personal data, such as
information that we collect about subjects and health care providers in connection with clinical trials. Implementation standards and enforcement
practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, which may create uncertainty in our business; affect our or our service providers’ ability
to operate in certain jurisdictions or to collect, store, transfer use and share personal data; result in liability; or impose additional compliance or other costs
on us. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with federal, state, or foreign laws or self-regulatory standards could result in negative publicity,
diversion of management time and effort and proceedings against us by governmental entities or others.

In the United States, numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including federal health information privacy laws (e.g., the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, or collectively HIPAA), state
data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws, and federal and state consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act), that govern the collection, use, disclosure and protection of health-related and other personal information could apply to our operations
or the operations of our collaborators. In addition, we may obtain health information from third parties (including research institutions from which we
obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA or other privacy and data security laws. Depending on the
facts and circumstances, we could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain, use, or disclose protected health information maintained by a
HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA. However, determining whether protected health information has been
handled in compliance with applicable privacy standards and our contractual obligations can be complex and may be subject to changing interpretation.

If we are unable to properly protect the privacy and security of protected health information or other personal, sensitive, or confidential information in our
possession, we could be found to have breached our contracts. Further, if we fail to comply with applicable privacy laws, including applicable HIPAA
privacy and security standards, we could face significant administrative, civil and criminal penalties. Enforcement activity can also result in financial
liability and reputational harm, and responses to such enforcement activity can consume significant internal and outside resources. Furthermore, state
attorneys general are authorized to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations that threaten the privacy of state
residents. In addition, our ongoing efforts to comply with evolving laws and regulations at the federal and state level may be costly and require continuous
modifications to our compliance policies, procedures, and systems.
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Many state laws govern the privacy and security of personal information and data in specified circumstances, many of which differ from each other in
significant ways, are often not pre-empted by HIPAA, and may have a more prohibitive effect than HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts. For
example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA"), which went into effect in January 2020 and provides new data privacy rights for
consumers and new operational requirements for companies, which may increase our compliance costs and potential liability. The CCPA gives California
residents expanded rights to access and delete their personal information, opt out of certain personal information sharing, and receive detailed
information about how their personal information is used. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for data
breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. While there is currently an exception for protected health information that is subject to HIPAA
and clinical trial regulations, as currently written, the CCPA may impact certain of our business activities. In addition, the California Consumer Rights Act,
or CPRA, was recently enacted to strengthen elements of the CCPA and became effective on January 1, 2023. The CPRA imposes additional data
protection obligations on covered businesses, including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher
risk data, and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive data and expands the application of the CCPA to all human resources personal information of
California-based employees. In addition, the CPRA created a new California data protection agency authorized to issue substantive regulations and is
expected to result in increased privacy and information security enforcement. A number of other states have considered similar privacy proposals, and
states have recently enacted their own privacy laws. For example, the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act became effective on January 1, 2023, and
Colorado and Utah enacted similar laws that became effective in 2023, increasing the complexity of compliance and the risk of failures to comply. These



privacy laws may impact our business activities and exemplify the vulnerability of our business to the evolving regulatory environment related to personal
data.

In addition to our operations in the United States, which may be subject to health care and other laws relating to the privacy and security of health
information and other personal information, we may be or become subject to European data privacy laws, regulations and guidelines. The General Data
Protection Regulation, (EU) 2016/679 (“GDPR") became effective on May 25, 2018, and deals with the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer, or
other processing of personal data, including personal health data, regarding individuals in the EEA. The GDPR imposes a broad range of strict
requirements on companies subject to the GDPR, including requirements relating to having legal bases for processing personal information relating to
identifiable individuals and transferring such information outside the EEA, including to the United States, providing details to those individuals regarding
the processing of their personal health and other sensitive data, obtaining consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, keeping personal
information secure, having data processing agreements with third parties who process personal information, responding to individuals’ requests to
exercise their rights in respect of their personal information, reporting security breaches involving personal data to the competent national data protection
authority and affected individuals, appointing data protection officers, conducting data protection impact assessments, and record-keeping. The GDPR
increases substantially the penalties to which we could be subject in the event of any non-compliance, including fines of up to €10,000,000 or up to 2% of
our total worldwide annual turnover for certain comparatively minor offenses, or up to €20,000,000 or up to 4% of our total worldwide annual turnover,
whichever is greater, for more serious offenses. The GDPR also confers a private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge
complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. In addition,
the GDPR includes restrictions on cross-border data transfers.

Following the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union (i.e., Brexit), and the expiry of the Brexit transition period, which ended on
December 31, 2020, the EU GDPR has been implemented in the United Kingdom (as the UK GDPR). The UK GDPR sits alongside the UK Data
Protection Act 2018 which implements certain derogations in the EU GDPR into UK law. Under the UK GDPR, companies not established in the UK but
who process personal data in relation to the offering of goods or services to individuals in the UK, or to monitor their behavior will be subject to the UK
GDPR - the requirements of which are (at this time) largely aligned with those under the EU GDPR and as such, may lead to similar compliance and
operational costs with potential fines of up to £17.5 million or 4% of global turnover. In 2022, the government of the United Kingdom proposed and
debated the Data Protection and Digital Information Bill to harmonize the 2018 Data Protection Act, UK GDPR, and the Privacy and Electronic
Communications Regulations under one legislative framework. However, progress on the bill stalled as the government continues to assess the most
optimal approach to data protection reform.
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We currently sell some of our products in the EEA, and the GDPR increases our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process
where such processing is subject to the GDPR, and we are required to have in place additional mechanisms and safeguards to ensure compliance with
the GDPR, including as implemented by individual countries. Compliance with the GDPR is a rigorous and time-intensive process that increase our cost
of doing business or require us to change our business practices, and despite those efforts, there is a risk that we may be subject to fines and penalties,
litigation, and reputational harm in connection with our European activities. We expect that we will continue to face uncertainty as to whether our efforts to
comply with any obligations under European privacy laws will be sufficient. If we are investigated by a European data protection authority, we may face
fines and other penalties. Any such investigation or charges by European data protection authorities could have a negative effect on our existing
business and on our ability to attract and retain new clients or partners.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If the combination of patents, trade secrets and contractual provisions that we rely on to protect our intellectual property is inadequate, our
ability to commercialize our products successfully will be harmed, and we may not be able to operate our business profitably.

Our success depends significantly on our ability to protect our proprietary rights to the technologies incorporated in our products. We rely on a
combination of patent protection, trade secret laws and nondisclosure, confidentiality and other contractual restrictions to protect our proprietary
technology. However, these may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its scope, validity or enforceability. The scope, validity or enforceability of our issued patents can be
challenged in litigation or proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or the USPTO, or foreign patent offices. In addition, our pending
patent applications include claims to numerous important aspects of our products under development that are not currently protected by any of our issued
patents. We cannot assure you that any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents to us. The USPTO or foreign patent
offices may deny or require significant narrowing of claims in our pending patent applications. Patents issued as a result of the pending patent
applications, if any, may not provide us with significant commercial protection or be issued in a form that is advantageous to us. Proceedings before the
USPTO or foreign patent offices could result in adverse decisions as to the priority of our inventions and the narrowing or invalidation of claims in issued
patents. The laws of some foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, if at all.

Our competitors may successfully challenge and invalidate or render unenforceable our issued patents, including any patents that may issue in the
future, which could prevent or limit our ability to market our products and could limit our ability to stop competitors from marketing products that are
substantially equivalent to ours. In addition, competitors may be able to design around our patents or develop products that provide outcomes that are
comparable to our products but that are not covered by our patents.

In the event a competitor infringes upon any of our patents or other intellectual property rights, enforcing our rights may be difficult, time-consuming and
expensive, and would divert management'’s attention from managing our business. There can be no assurance that we will be successful on the merits in
any enforcement effort. In addition, we may not have sufficient resources to litigate, enforce or defend our intellectual property rights.

We could become subject to intellectual property litigation that could be costly, result in the diversion of management’s time and efforts,
require us to pay damages, prevent us from marketing our commercially available products or product candidates and/or reduce the margins
we may realize from our products that we may commercialize.

Whether a product infringes a patent involves complex legal and factual issues, and the determination is often uncertain. There may be existing patents
of which we are unaware that our products under development may inadvertently infringe. The likelihood that patent infringement claims may be brought
against us increases as the number of participants in the in vitro diagnostics market increases and as we achieve more visibility in the marketplace and
introduce products to market.

Any infringement claim against us, even if without merit, may cause us to incur substantial costs, and would place a significant strain on our financial
resources, divert the attention of management from our core business, and harm our reputation. In some cases, litigation may be threatened or brought
by a patent holding company or other adverse patent owner who has no relevant product revenues and against whom our patents may provide little or no
deterrence. If we were found to infringe any patents, we could be required to pay substantial damages, including triple damages if an infringement is
found to be willful, and royalties and could be prevented from selling our products unless we obtain a license or are able to redesign our products to avoid
infringement. We may not be able to obtain a license enabling us to sell our products on reasonable terms, or at all, and there can be no assurance that
we would be able to redesign our products in a way that would not infringe those patents. If we fail to obtain any required licenses or make any necessary
changes to our technologies or the products that incorporate them, we may be unable to commercialize one or more of our products or may have to
withdraw products from the market, all of which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We rely substantially on our trademarks and trade names. If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not
be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our business may be harmed.

We rely substantially upon trademarks to build and maintain the integrity of our brand. Our registered and unregistered trademarks or trade names may
be challenged, infringed, circumvented, declared unenforceable or determined to be violating or infringing on other intellectual property rights. We may
not be able to protect or enforce our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we rely upon to build name recognition among potential partners
and customers in our markets of interest. At times, competitors or other third parties may adopt trade names or trademarks similar to ours, thereby
impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. Asserting claims against such third parties may be prohibitively
expensive. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringement, or dilution claims brought by owners of other trademarks against
us. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade names, then we may not be able to compete
effectively, and our business may be adversely affected. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights related to trademarks, trade secrets,
domain names or other intellectual property may be ineffective, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Litigation from Operating Our Business
We may become subject to potential product liability claims, and we may be required to pay damages that exceed our insurance coverage.

Our business exposes us to potential product liability claims that are inherent in the design, testing, manufacture, sale and distribution of our currently
marketed products and each of our product candidates that we are seeking to introduce to the market. Someone may allege that our diagnostic tests
identified inaccurate or incomplete information or otherwise failed to perform as designed. We may also be subject to liability for errors in, a
misunderstanding of or inappropriate reliance upon, the information we provide in the ordinary course of our business activities. In addition, we may be
subject to product liability claims resulting from misuse or off-label use of our products and product candidates. Any product liability claim brought against
us, with or without merit, could result in an increase of our product liability insurance rates or in our inability to secure coverage in the future on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In addition, if our product liability insurance proves to be inadequate to pay a damage award, we may have to
pay the excess of this award out of our cash reserves, which could significantly harm our financial condition. A product liability claim, even one without
merit, could harm our reputation in the industry, lead to significant legal fees, and result in the diversion of management’s attention from managing our
business.

Current or future litigation, government investigations and other legal proceedings may harm our business.

We have been, currently are and may in the future become, involved in legal proceedings that could have a negative impact on our reputation, business
and financial condition and divert the attention of our management from the operation of our business. The types of legal proceedings we may be or
become subject to include patent and other intellectual property claims, product liability claims, employee claims, tort or contract claims, federal or state
regulatory investigations, securities class actions, and other legal proceedings, investigations or claims. For example, we are currently parties to two
securities class action claims and three derivative actions. Litigation and other legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable and can result in excessive
or unanticipated verdicts and/or injunctive relief that affect how we operate our business. We could incur judgments or enter into settlements of claims for
monetary damages or for agreements to change the way we operate our business, or both. There may be an increase in the scope of these matters or
there may be additional lawsuits, claims, proceedings or investigations in the future, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Adverse publicity about regulatory or legal action against us could damage our reputation and brand image, undermine our customers’
confidence and reduce long-term demand for any of our products or other offerings, even if the regulatory or legal action is unfounded or not material to
our operations. For additional information, see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings.”
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General Risk Factors
The price of our common stock may fluctuate substantially.
The market price of our common stock may be subject to wide fluctuation in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Some
factors that may cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate, in addition to the other risks mentioned in this “Risk Factors” section and
elsewhere in this report, are:

e sales or purchases of our common stock by our shareholders, executives, and directors;

e our ability to obtain regulatory approval to commercialize our PCR platform on a timely basis or at all;

e our ability to enter new markets;

e actual or unanticipated fluctuations in our annual and quarterly financial results;

e our ability to obtain financings to continue and expand our commercial activities, expand our manufacturing operations, conduct research
and development activities including, but not limited to, human clinical trials, and other business activities;

e our ability to secure resources and the necessary personnel to continue and expand our commercial activities, develop additional diagnostic
tests, conduct clinical trials and gain approval for our diagnostic tests on our desired schedule;

e commencement, enrollment or results of our clinical trials of our diagnostic tests or any future clinical trials we may conduct;
e changes in the development status of our diagnostic tests;

e anydelays or adverse developments or perceived adverse developments with respect to review by the FDA or other similar foreign
regulatory authorities of our planned clinical trials;

e any delay in our submission for studies or test approvals or adverse regulatory decisions, including failure to receive regulatory approval or
clearance for our diagnostic tests;

e our announcements or our competitors’ announcements regarding new tests, enhancements, significant contracts, acquisitions or strategic
investments;



e failures to meet external expectations or management guidance;

e changes in our capital structure or dividend policy, including as a result of future issuances of securities and sales of large blocks of common
stock by our shareholders;

e announcements and events surrounding financing efforts, including debt and equity securities;
e competition from existing technologies and diagnostic tests or new technologies and diagnostic tests that may emerge;

e announcements of acquisitions, partnerships, collaborations, joint ventures, new diagnostic tests, capital commitments, or other events by us
or our competitors;

e changes in general economic, political and market conditions in any of the regions in which we conduct our business;

e changes in industry conditions or perceptions;

e changes in valuations of similar companies or groups of companies;

e analyst research reports, recommendations and changes in recommendations, price targets and withdrawals of coverage;

e departures and additions of key personnel;

e disputes and litigations related to intellectual properties, proprietary rights, and contractual obligations;

e changes in applicable laws, rules, regulations, or accounting practices and other dynamics;

e other events or factors, many of which may be out of our control.
In addition, if the market for stocks in our industry or industries related to our industry, or the stock market in general, experiences a loss of investor
confidence, the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any
of the foregoing occurs, it could cause our stock price to fall and may expose us to lawsuits that, even if unsuccessful, could be costly to defend and a

distraction to management.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Utah law could discourage, delay, or prevent a change of control of our Company and
may affect the trading price of our common stock.

We are a Utah corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Utah Control Shares Acquisition Act may discourage, delay or prevent a change of
control by limiting the voting rights of control shares acquired in a control share acquisition. In addition, our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws may
discourage, delay or prevent a change in our management or control over us that shareholders may consider favorable. Among other things, our
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws:

e authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors in response to a takeover attempt;

e provide that vacancies on our board of directors, including newly created directorships, may be filled only by a majority vote of directors then
in office, except a vacancy occurring by reason of the removal of a director without cause shall be filled by vote of the shareholders;

e no right to cumulative voting;

e limit who may call special meetings of shareholders; and

e provide for a staggered board of directors
These provisions could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control, whether or not it is desired by, or beneficial to, our shareholders.
We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

We do not expect to pay cash dividends on our common stock. Any future dividend payments are within the absolute discretion of our board of directors
and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, financial condition,
contractual restrictions, business opportunities, anticipated cash needs, provisions of applicable law and other factors that our board of directors may
deem relevant. We may not generate sufficient cash from operations in the future to pay dividends on our common stock.

We are a “smaller reporting company” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies may make our
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are currently a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Smaller reporting companies are able to provide
simplified executive compensation disclosures in their filings, and have certain other decreased disclosure obligations in their SEC filings, including,
among other things, only being required to provide two years of audited financial statements in annual reports. We cannot predict whether investors will
find our common stock less attractive because of our reliance on any of these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a
result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

We incur substantial costs as a result of being a public company and our management expects to devote substantial time to public company
compliance programs.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, insurance, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated with public company reporting. We
intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment will result in increased general and administrative
expenses and may divert management'’s time and attention from product development and commercialization activities. If our efforts to comply with new
laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to practice, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be harmed. These laws and regulations could make it more difficult and
costlier for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance for our directors and officers, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified executive officers and
qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit and compensation committees. In addition, if we are unable to continue to
meet the legal, regulatory and other requirements related to being a public company, we may not be able to maintain the listing of our common stock on
The NASDAQ Capital Market, which would likely have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.



ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We understand the importance of preventing, identifying, assessing and managing material risks associated with cybersecurity threats. Cybersecurity
processes to identify, assess and manage risks from cybersecurity threats have been incorporated as a part of our overall risk assessment process and
are designed to help protect our information assets and operations from internal and external cyber threats and protect employee and customer
information from unauthorized access or attack, as well as secure our network and systems. The Company’s cybersecurity policies, standards,
processes, and practices are based on recognized frameworks established by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”) and are
included in the Company’s overall risk management system and processes. We have implemented into our operations these cybersecurity processes,
technologies and controls to identify, assess and manage material risks. Specifically, we engage a third-party cybersecurity firm to assist with network
and endpoint monitoring, cloud system monitoring and assessment of our incident response procedures. Further, we employ periodic internal and
external penetration testing by an independent cybersecurity firm to inform our risk identification and assessment of critical, high, medium and minor
material cybersecurity threats.

To manage our material risks from cybersecurity threats and to protect against, detect, and prepare to respond to cybersecurity incidents, we undertake
the below listed activities:

e Monitor evolving cybersecurity standards and emerging data protection laws and implement changes to our processes to comply;

e risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, products, services, and our
broader enterprise IT environment;

e The Company leverages third-party vendors to house critical clinical trial data. These vendors are required to be GxP compliant which
entails strong cybersecurity controls that are validated by a third-party auditor. Furthermore, the Company has begun performing security
risk assessments prior to on-boarding new significant vendors.

e The Company provides regular, mandatory training for all levels of employees regarding cybersecurity threats as a means to equip the
Company’s employees with effective tools to address cybersecurity threats, and to communicate the Company’s evolving information
security policies, standards, processes, and practices.

e Employ multifactor authentication on internal and external systems;
e Conduct regular phishing email simulations for all employees; and
e Carry cybersecurity risk insurance that provides protection against the potential losses arising from a cybersecurity incident.

Our incident response plan coordinates the activities that we and our third-party cybersecurity providers take to prepare to respond and recover from
cybersecurity incidents, which include processes to triage, assess severity, investigate, escalate, contain, and remediate an incident, as well as to comply
with potentially applicable legal obligations and mitigate brand and reputational damage.

As part of the above processes, we engage with subject matter expert consultants to review our cybersecurity program to help identify areas for
continued focus, improvement, and compliance.

Our processes also include assessing cybersecurity threat risks associated with our use of third-party services providers in normal course of business
use, including those in our supply chain or who have access to patient and employee data or our systems. Third-party risks are included within our risk
management process discussed above. In addition, we assess cybersecurity considerations in the selection and oversight of our third-party services
providers, including due diligence on the third parties that have access to our systems and facilities that house systems and data.

We do not believe that there are currently any known risks from cybersecurity threats that are reasonably likely to materially affect our business strategy,
results of operations or financial condition. However, cybersecurity threats may affect our business. See “Cyber security risks and the failure to
maintain the integrity of company, employee or guest data could expose us to data loss, litigation and liability, and our reputation could be
significantly harmed.” in “Iltem 1A. Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for oversight of our cybersecurity risk assessment, risk management, incident response
procedures and cybersecurity risks and provides updates to the Board of Directors regarding such oversight. Periodically during each year, the Audit
Committee receives an overview from our Vice President, Head of Technology of our cybersecurity threat risk management and strategy processes,
including potential impact on us, the efforts of management to manage the risks that are identified and our incident response preparations.

Our cybersecurity risk assessment, management and strategy processes are led by our Chief Technology Officer. Our Chief Technology Officer has over
15 years of experience in various roles involving managing information security, managing privacy and data protection, developing cybersecurity strategy,
and implementing cybersecurity programs. The Chief Technology Officer was recently promoted and is training to be a Certified Information Security
Manager (CISM), is informed about and monitors the prevention, mitigation, detection, and remediation of cybersecurity incidents through management of
the cybersecurity risk management and strategy processes described above, including our incident response plan.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located at 2401 S. Foothill Drive, Salt Lake City, Utah. Our current facilities have approximately 54,000 square feet of laboratory,
manufacturing, storage and office space under leases that expire in 2026 through 2028. We believe the facilities we lease are sufficient to meet our
needs for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of business, we are at times subject to various legal proceedings and disputes, including the proceedings specifically discussed

below. We assess our liabilities and contingencies in connection with outstanding legal proceedings utilizing the latest information available. Where it is
probable that we will incur a loss and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we record a liability in our consolidated financial statements.



These legal reserves may be increased or decreased to reflect any relevant developments on a quarterly basis. Where a loss is not probable or the
amount of loss is not estimable, we do not accrue legal reserves. While the outcome of legal proceedings is inherently uncertain, based on information
currently available and available insurance coverage, our management believes that it has established appropriate legal reserves. Any incremental
liabilities arising from pending legal proceedings are not expected to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, consolidated
results of operations, or consolidated cash flows. However, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of these matters, if unfavorable, may be material to
our consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or consolidated cash flows.

Class Actions and Shareholder Derivative Suits
Gelt Securities Class Action (District of Utah)

On June 15, 2020, Gelt Trading Co. (“Gelt”) filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the District of Utah (“District of Utah”), against the
Company and certain of our directors and officers, on behalf of itself and a putative class, seeking to recover damages for alleged violations of Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Gelt Litigation”). The complaint alleges that Co-Diagnostics and the individual defendants
overstated the accuracy of the Company’s Logix Smart COVID-19 test in statements on April 30, 2020 and May 1, 2020, and that plaintiff suffered losses
when the Company’s stock price dropped after public reports questioned the accuracy of the Logix Smart test on May 14, 2020. On July 15, 2020,
plaintiff filed an amended complaint. On March 10, 2021, the court appointed Gelt as Lead Plaintiff, and on April 7, 2021, Lead Plaintiff filed a second
amended complaint (“SAC”), which asserts the same Sections 10(b) and 20(a) claims against the same defendants on largely the same theory. On May
5, 2021, the defendants moved to dismiss the SAC. On March 9, 2022, the court entered a Decision & Order denying the motion to dismiss, but
narrowing the challenged statements to only those made in the May 1, 2020 press release, and on April 13, 2022, the defendants filed an answer to the
SAC. On October 17, 2022, Gelt filed a motion to certify the putative class, and on August 18, 2023, the court partially granted that motion, certifying a
class of all those who purchased Co-Diagnostics securities between May 1, 2020 and May 14, 2020, dates inclusive, and who were damaged thereby.
Fact discovery closed on August 18, 2023 and expert discovery is currently underway. Summary judgment motions and motions to exclude expert
testimony are due April 10, 2024; no trial date has yet been set. The defendants believe the claims are without merit and intend to defend vigorously
against them, but there can be no assurances as to the outcome.

Shareholder Derivative Lawsuits (District of Utah & Utah State Court)

On September 17, 2020, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the District of Utah by Luis Aguilera, allegedly on behalf of Co-Diagnostics, Inc., that
substantially piggybacks on the Gelt Litigation referenced above. The lawsuit asserts that the defendants failed to prevent the alleged securities law
violations largely asserted in the Gelt Litigation. On December 2, 2020, a second shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the District of Utah by Melvyn
Klein asserting essentially the same claims, allegedly on behalf of Co-Diagnostics, as the Aguilera shareholder derivative action. And on April 29, 2021,
the District of Utah consolidated the two shareholder derivative cases, with the Aguilera case serving as the lead case under the caption In re Co-
Diagnostics, Inc. Derivative Litigation. On May 3, 2022, plaintiffs filed an amended complaint asserting claims for breach of fiduciary duty, unjust
enrichment, and contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Defendants answered the amended complaint on
June 24, 2022. On January 25, 2024, the consolidated Aguilera derivative action was voluntarily dismissed without prejudice.

On November 24, 2020, an additional shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the District of Utah by Matthew Wallace, allegedly on behalf of Co-
Diagnostics, Inc., that also piggybacks on the Gelt Litigation referenced above. It named the same defendants and asserted essentially the same claims,
allegedly on behalf of Co-Diagnostics, as in the other District of Utah shareholder derivative actions referenced above. On January 25, 2021, another
shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the District of Utah by Jason Reagan, asserting essentially the same claims as in the Wallace lawsuit. On
March 18, 2021, the court consolidated the two lawsuits, with the Wallace lawsuit serving as the lead case. On April 30, 2021, plaintiffs filed an amended
complaint asserting claims for breach of fiduciary duty against defendants and claims for insider trading. On January 26, 2024, the court ordered the
parties’ proposed revised case schedule, setting fact and expert discovery deadlines throughout 2024 and early 2025; dispositive motions are due June
1, 2025, but no trial date has yet been set.
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On March 29, 2021, an additional shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah (“Utah
State Court”) by Hua Ding, allegedly on behalf of Co-Diagnostics, Inc., that also piggybacks on the Gelt Litigation referenced above. It names the same
defendants and asserts essentially the same claims as in In re Co-Diagnostics, Inc. Derivative Litigation pending in the District of Utah referenced above.
On December 12, 2022, a second shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in Utah State Court by Kathryn Matuch asserting essentially the same claims,
allegedly on behalf of Co-Diagnostics, as the Ding shareholder derivative action.

The defendants believe the claims asserted in all of the shareholder derivative lawsuits referenced above are without merit and intend to defend
vigorously against them, but there can be no assurances as to the outcome.

Stadium Capital Securities Class Action (Southern District of New York)

On August 16, 2022, Stadium Capital LLC (“Stadium”) filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, against Co-
Diagnostics, Inc., and certain of our officers, on behalf of itself and a putative class, seeking to recover damages for alleged violations of Sections 10(b)
and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The complaint alleges that Co-Diagnostics and the individual defendants overstated the demand for
the Company’s Logix Smart COVID-19 test in statements on May 12, 2022 and June 15, 2022. The complaint alleges that plaintiff suffered losses when
the Company'’s stock price dropped after the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter ended June 30, 2022 in a press release on August
11, 2022. On September 19, 2022, a second plaintiff, Drew Lee, filed a similar complaint in the same court against the same defendants alleging
essentially the same claims. On August 9, 2023, the court consolidated these two securities class actions into the Stadium action and appointed Stadium
as lead plaintiff. On September 21, 2023, Stadium filed a consolidated amended complaint, and on October 20, 2023, defendants moved to dismiss. On
February 5, 2024, the Court granted in part and denied in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss. On February 20, 2024, the defendants answered the
consolidated amended complaint, and the parties are now engaged in discovery. The defendants believe the claims are without merit and intend to
defend vigorously against them, but there can be no assurances as to the outcome.

Commercial Litigation

Co-Diagnostics, Inc. v. Hukui Technology, Inc., et al. (Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil No. 210902131, filed on
April 21, 2021).

The Company filed a complaint against Defendants Hukui Technology, Inc., Hukui Tech, Inc., and Hukui Bio Co., Ltd (collectively, “Hukui”) seeking a
declaratory judgment that the Company is not obligated to any of them in any amount. On August 24, 2021, Hukui filed their Answer and Counterclaim
seeking damages on a number of theories, including breach of contract for letter agreements, breach of oral agreement, promissory estoppel, unjust
enrichment, and interference with economic relations. Hukui requested a money judgment against the Company in an amount to be determined at trial.
On September 20, 2021, Hukui filed their Unopposed Motion for Leave to Amend Answer to the Complaint, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims
and, on October 14, 2021, Hukui filed their Amended Answer and Counterclaims seeking damages on declaratory judgment, as well as breach of
contract for letters of authorization, breach of oral agreement, promissory estoppel, unjust enrichment, and interference with economic relations. In 2022
the parties exchanged their initial disclosures, exchanged written discovery requests, and conducted a number of depositions on each side that were
concluded in January 2023. On June 1, 2023 the Company filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asking the court for summary judgment on its sole



claim for declaratory relief and for summary judgment with respect to all Hukui counterclaims. On November 7, 2023, the Court issued its decision and
granted the Company summary judgment on its sole claim for declaratory relief and on all Hukui counterclaims. On December 22, 2023, Hukui filed a
notice of appeal of the final judgment in its entirety with the Utah Supreme Court. The Company believes the claims are without merit and intends to
defend vigorously against them, but there can be no assurances as to the outcome.

Co-Diagnostics, Inc. v. Pantheon International Advisors Ltd. (Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Civil No. 210902609,
filed on May 14, 2021).

The Company filed a complaint against Pantheon International Advisors (“Pantheon”) asking the court to declare that the Company has no ongoing
contractual business relationship with Pantheon, no monies owing, nor does Pantheon have any interest, right, title or claim to any stock issued by the
Company or ownership of any kind in the Company. Pantheon was served with a 30-Day Summons on September 9, 2021 to which it failed to respond,
and a default judgement against Pantheon International Advisors was entered by the Court on November 28, 2021. The time to appeal from the
judgment or seek to vacate the judgment has passed.

After learning that the Company had initiated suit in Utah, and after learning of Company’s intent to serve it with process of that suit, on May 24, 2021,
Pantheon filed a claim against the Company in the Royal Courts of Justice Group, Queens Bench Division, Claim No. QB-21-002245, stating that the
Company owes Pantheon $2,860,809.79 for alleged breach of contract for failing to make payments purportedly due under a contract allegedly entered
into on October 18, 2018. The Company is being represented locally in the UK by Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP in that matter. The Company
intends to vigorously defend against the UK claims and will seek to the full extent possible to enforce its rights under the Declaratory Judgment already
obtained in Utah but there can be no assurances as to the outcome.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
Our common stock has been quoted on the NASDAQ market under the symbol “CODX” since July 12, 2017.
Holders
As of March 12, 2024, the last reported sales price reported on NASDAQ for our common stock was $1.18 per share. As of March 12, 2024, we had
approximately 154 record holders of our common stock. The number of record holders was determined from the records of our transfer agent and does
not include beneficial owners of common stock whose shares are held in the names of various security brokers, dealers, and registered clearing
agencies. The transfer agent for our common stock is VStock Transfer LLC located at 18 Lafayette PI, Woodmere, New York 11598.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. The payment of dividends on our common stock in the future will depend on our
earnings, capital requirements, operating and financial condition and such other factors as our board of directors may consider appropriate. We currently
expect to use all available funds to finance the future development and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future.
Pursuant to Section 16-10a-640 of the Utah Revised Business Corporation Act, no distribution may be made if, after giving it effect:

(€) the corporation would not be able to pay its debts as they become due in the usual course of business; or

(b) the corporation’s total assets would be less than the sum of its total liabilities plus, unless the articles of incorporation permit otherwise, the

amount that would be needed, if the corporation were to be dissolved at the time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon
dissolution of shareholders whose preferential rights are superior to those receiving the distribution.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans
Information about our equity compensation plans in ltem 12 of Part Ill of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated herein by reference.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Share Repurchase Program

Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities

(d) Maximum

number (or
approximate dollar
(c) Total number of value) of shares that
shares purchased as may yet be
part of publicly purchased under the
(a) Total number of (b) Average price announced plans or plans or programs
Period shares purchased @) paid per share (1) programs 1) @)
10/01/23 — 10/31/23 77,676 $ 1.08 77,676 $ 14,500,002
11/01/23 - 11/30/23 - $ - - $ 14,500,002
12/01/23 — 12/31/23 62,482 $ 121 62,482 $ 14,424,205

Total 140,158 $ 1.14 140,158  $ 14,424,205




(1) In March 2022, the company announced that its board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $30.0 million of the company’s outstanding
common stock. The extent to which the company repurchases its shares, and the timing of such repurchases, will depend upon a variety of
factors, including trading volume, market conditions, legal requirements, business conditions and other factors. The repurchase program may be
discontinued at any time, and the program does not obligate the company to acquire any specific number of shares of its common stock.
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ITEM 6. RESERVED
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULT OF OPERATIONS

The following management'’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations describes the principal factors affecting the results of
our operations, financial condition, and changes in financial condition. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited
financial statements, and notes thereto, included elsewhere in this report. In addition to historical information, this Annual Report contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of certain factors, including but not limited to those set forth under the caption “ltem 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Business Overview

Co-Diagnostics, Inc., a Utah corporation (the “Company” or “CODX"), develops, manufactures and sells reagents used for diagnostic tests that function
via the detection and/or analysis of nucleic acid molecules (DNA or RNA), including robust and innovative molecular tools for detection of infectious
diseases, liquid biopsy for cancer screening, and agricultural applications. Our diagnostics systems enable dependable, low-cost, molecular testing for
organisms and genetic diseases by automating or simplifying historically complex procedures in both the development and administration of tests.
CODX’s technical advance involves a novel, patented approach to PCR test design of primer and probe structure (“CoPrimers™") that eliminates one of
the key vexing issues of PCR amplification: the exponential growth of primer-dimer pairs (false positives and false negatives) which adversely interferes
with identification of the target DNA/RNA. Using our proprietary test design system and proprietary reagents, we have designed and obtained regulatory
approval to sell PCR diagnostic tests for the detection of COVID-19, influenza, tuberculosis, hepatitis B and C, human papillomavirus, malaria,
chikungunya, dengue, and the Zika virus. These initial diagnostic tests were cleared for use in clinical labs only and not for point-of-care or at-home use.

We are currently developing a unique, groundbreaking portable diagnostic device and test system designed for point-of-care and at-home use. The
system is comprised of our PCR instrument that we refer to as the Co-Dx™ PCR Pro™ instrument, our proprietary diagnostic test cup system and a
mobile application to be installed on the user's mobile device. We refer to the system as the “Co-Dx™ PCR platform that is being designed to bring
affordable, reliable polymerase chain reaction (“PCR”) testing to patients in point-of-care and at-home settings. The Co-Dx PCR platform is subject to
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) review and is not available for sale at the time of this filing. In December 2023, we submitted the Co-Dx PCR
platform for review by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for Emergency Use Authorization (EUA). The submission included the PCR Pro
instrument, Co-Dx PCR COVID-19 detection test cups, and mobile app, all designed for use in point-of-care and at-home settings. There is no guarantee
that our Co-Dx PCR platform will receive the necessary regulatory approvals for commercialization, or that, if regulatory approval is received, we will be
able to successfully commercialize this platform.

Technology

We believe our proprietary molecular diagnostics technology is paving the way for innovation in disease detection and life sciences research through our
enhanced detection of genetic material. For various reasons, including owning our own platform, we believe we will be able to accomplish this faster and
more economically than some competitors, allowing for significant margins while still positioning ourselves as a low-cost provider of molecular diagnostics
and screening services. For example, we were the first US-based company to receive a CE-marking for a COVID-19 test in early 2020, as we worked to
help slow the spread of the pandemic through our global network of distributors covering clinical labs in more than 50 countries. Our Logix Smart COVID-
19 test was designed, developed, submitted for regulatory approval and ready to be used as an in vitro diagnostic or IVD in countries that accept a CE
Mark as approval for use of the test in a period of just over 30 days. This is a real-world example of how the CODX technology can be used in an
evolving epidemic or pandemic to get diagnostic tools in the hands of medical professionals in a timely manner. It can be similarly used to design a test
for mutated strains of the virus should they not be detectable using currently available tests.

In addition, continued development has demonstrated the unique properties of our CoPrimer technology that we believe makes it ideally suited for a
variety of applications where specificity is key to optimal results, including multiplexing several targets, enhanced Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
(“SNP”) detection and enrichment for next generation sequencing.

Our scientists use the complex mathematics of DNA/RNA PCR test design to engineer and optimize PCR tests and to automate algorithms that rapidly
screen millions of possible options to pinpoint the optimum design. The intellectual property we use in our business, consisting of the predictive
mathematical algorithms and patented molecular structure used in the testing process, which together represents a major advance in PCR testing
systems. CODX technologies are now protected by more than 20 granted or pending US and foreign patents, as well as certain trade secrets and
copyrights. Ownership of our proprietary platform permits us the advantage of avoiding payment of patent royalties required by other PCR test systems,
which may allow the sale of diagnostic PCR tests at a lower price than competitors, while enabling us to maintain profit margins.
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Our proprietary test design process involves identifying the optimal locations on the target genes for amplification and pair the locations with the
optimized primer and probe structure to achieve outputs that meet the design input requirements identified from market research. This is done by
following planned and documented processes, procedures and testing. In other words, we use the data resulting from our tests to verify whether we
succeeded in designing what we intended. Verification involves a series of testing that concludes that the product is ready to proceed to validation in an
evaluation either in our laboratory or in an independent laboratory setting using initial production tests to confirm that the product as designed meets the
user needs.

Using our proprietary test design system and proprietary reagents, we have designed and obtained regulatory approval in the European Community and
in India to sell PCR diagnostic tests for the detection of COVID-19, influenza, tuberculosis, hepatitis B and C, human papillomavirus, malaria,
chikungunya, dengue, and the Zika virus. In the United States, we obtained Emergency Use Authorization (“EUA”) for our Logix Smart® COVID-19
detection test from the Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and we sell that test to qualified labs. In addition, our COVID-19 detection test and certain
of our other suite of COVID-19 products have been approved for sale in countries such as the United Kingdom, Australia and Mexico by the regulatory
bodies in those countries and have been registered for sale in many more countries. In connection with the sale of our tests we may sell diagnostic
equipment from other manufacturers as self-contained lab systems (which we refer to as the “MDx Device”).

In addition to testing for infectious disease, the technology lends itself to identifying any section of a DNA or RNA strand that describes any type of
genetic trait, which creates several significant applications. We, in conjunction with our customers, have designed and licensed tests that identify genetic
traits in plant and animal genomes. We also have three multiplexed tests developed to test mosquitos for the identification of diseases carried by the



mosquitos to enable municipalities to concentrate their efforts in managing mosquito populations on the specific areas known to be breeding the
mosquitos that carry deadly viruses.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

The table below provides a comparison of our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2022.

Years Ended December 31, Year Change
2023 2022 Change %
Product revenue $ 991,473 $ 34,218,209 $ (33,226,736) -97%
Grant revenue 5,820,565 - 5,820,565 -
Total revenue 6,812,038 34,218,209 (27,406,171) -80%
Cost of revenue 4,184,949 5,481,093 (1,296,144) -24%
Gross profit 2,627,089 28,737,116 (26,110,027) -91%
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 6,860,815 7,344,628 (483,813) -7%
General and administrative 14,279,441 14,262,963 16,478 0%
Research and development 22,962,593 17,438,098 5,524,495 32%
Depreciation and amortization 1,230,474 1,282,718 (52,244) -4%
Goodwill impairment charges - 15,388,546 (15,388,546) =
Total operating expenses 45,333,323 55,716,953 (10,383,630) -19%
Loss from operations (42,706,234) (26,979,837) (15,726,397) 58%
Other income
Interest income 1,161,913 704,045 457,868 65%
Realized gain on investments 2,243,059 - 2,243,059 -
Loss on disposition of assets (2,578) (138,117) 135,539 -98%
Gain on remeasurement of acquisition contingencies 1,092,581 7,899,644 (6,807,063) -86%
Gain (loss) on equity method investment in joint venture 100,703 (332,969) 433,672 -130%
Total other income 4,595,678 8,132,603 (3,536,925) -43%
Loss before income taxes (38,110,556) (18,847,234) (19,263,322) 102%
Income tax benefit (2,777,691) (4,608,985) 1,831,294 -40%
Net loss $ (35,332,865 $ (14,238,249) $ (21,094,616) 148%
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Revenues

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we generated $6.8 million of revenue compared to revenue of $34.2 million in the year ended December 31,
2022. The decrease in revenue of $27.4 million was primarily due to lower sales of our Logix Smart COVID-19 test throughout the world. As global
attention and regulatory responses to the COVID-19 pandemic have eased, we have experienced significantly decreased demand for our COVID-19 test.
This decrease was partially offset by the generation of $5.8 million of grant revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit

Cost of revenues decreased by $1.3 million from $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 to $4.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2023. Included within cost of revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023 is an increase of approximately $2.8 million related to reserves against
certain raw materials and finished goods inventories. The decrease in revenues combined with a larger percentage of fixed product manufacturing costs
and reserves for obsolete inventory resulted in a lower gross margin percentage.

Operating Expenses

We incurred total operating expenses of $45.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to total operating expenses of $55.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in operating expenses was primarily due to the decreases related to the impairment of goodwill, bad
debt expense, and third party sales commissions, partially offset by increased expenses related to personnel, including stock-based compensation,
increased legal and professional services expenses, and increased investment in research and development.

Sales and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $6.9 million compared to $7.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022. The decrease of $0.4 million was primarily a result of decreased variable compensation, such as bonuses and commissions, and decreased third-
party sales commissions, partially offset by increased professional services and stock-based compensation expense.

General and administrative expenses were flat at $14.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Increases in professional,
legal, and advisory fees, personnel related expenses, and stock-based compensation expense were offset by decreases in bad debt expense and
insurance expense.

Our research and development expenses increased by $5.6 million from $17.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, to $23.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023. The primary increase in expenses related to increased personnel expenses, as well as increases in supplies expenses
and professional and lab services utilized to further help us in our research and product development activities.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized charges of $15.4 million related to goodwill impairment.

Other Income

Other income was $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to other income of $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The decrease in other income of $3.5 million was primarily due to a change in the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities, driven by changes in

the Company'’s stock price, and partially offset by increased interest income and realized investment gains due to the Company’s investing activities.
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Net Loss

We realized a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 of $35.3 million compared to $14.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
decrease of $21.1 million was primarily the result of reduced sales of our Logix Smart COVID-19 test, increased operating expenses as discussed above,
and a decrease in the gain related to the fair value of acquisition related contingent consideration liabilities, partially offset by a decrease in impairment
charges related to the impairment of goodwill recorded in the prior year and increased interest income and realized investment gains. Additionally, we
recorded an income tax benefit of $2.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to an income tax benefit of $4.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $14.9 million and marketable investment securities of $43.6 million. We consider our
marketable investment securities an important part of our liquidity and focus such investments in securities that can readily be converted into cash if
needed. Additionally, our total current assets at December 31, 2023, were $62.1 million compared to total current liabilities of $5.7 million.

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 was $22.1 million, compared to cash provided by operating activities of
$6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in cash from operating activities was primarily due to decreases in revenue and
increases in operating expenses.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $15.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to net cash used in investing activities of
$58.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in cash provided by investing activities is primarily due to interest and realized
gains related to marketable investment securities, as well as the redemption of certain investments as they matured.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $14.0 million of cash used in financing
activities for the year ended December 31, 2022. The decrease in cash used in financing activities is primarily due to fewer repurchases of outstanding
common shares during 2023 as compared to 2022.

Since commencing sales of our Logix Smart COVID-19 test in March 2020, we have used our cash generated from those sales to fund the purchase of
inventories and the development of our Co-Dx PCR Platform, and to pay our operating expenses. We have increased our work force most significantly in
research and development in order to continue development of the Co-Dx PCR platform and additional tests that will enable continued use of our
distributor network to sell additional products throughout the world.

We believe that our existing capital resources and the cash generated from future sales will be sufficient to meet our projected operating requirements for
the next 12 months. However, our available capital resources may be consumed more rapidly than currently expected and we may need or want to raise
additional financing for strategic opportunities. It is anticipated that the Company will continue to generate operating losses and use cash in operations in
the near term. If needed, we expect additional investment capital to come from additional issuances of our common stock or other equity based securities
with existing and new investors similar to those that have provided funding in the past. On March 16, 2023, the Company entered into an Equity
Distribution Agreement with Piper Sandler & Co. (“Piper”), pursuant to which we may sell from time to time, shares of our common stock, having an
aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million through Piper, as agent. No shares have been sold under the distribution agreement as of December 31,
2023. We may not be able to secure such financing in a timely manner or on favorable terms, if at all.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our management's discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are
based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. While our significant accounting policies are described in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, within Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements in the section titled “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”, we believe that the
accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant
areas involving management’s judgments and estimates.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of any allowance. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for
amounts the Company does not expect to collect. In establishing the required allowance, management considers historical losses, current market
condition, customers’ financial condition, the age of receivables, and current payment patterns. Account balances are written off against the allowance
once the receivable is deemed uncollectible. If actual accounts receivable collections are less favorable than those projected by management at the time
of the assessment, however, additional accounts receivable write-downs may be required, which could reduce our earnings.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The useful lives of intangible assets with definite lives are based on the expected number of years the asset will generate revenue or otherwise be used
by us and the related amortization is based on the straight-line method. Goodwill, which has an indefinite life, is not amortized but instead is tested at
least annually for impairment, or more frequently when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Examples of such
events or circumstances include:

e the asset’s ability to continue to generate income from operations and positive cash flow in future periods;

e any volatility or significant decline in our stock price and market capitalization compared to our net book value;

e loss of legal ownership or title to an asset;

e significant changes in our strategic business objectives and utilization of our assets; and

e the impact of significant negative industry or economic trends.
If a change were to occur in any of the above-mentioned factors or estimates, the likelihood of a material change in our reported results would increase.
For goodwill, the entity has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill
impairment test. The quantitative impairment test compares the fair value of a reporting unit with the carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value

of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is considered not impaired; otherwise, goodwill is impaired and the loss is recorded. Upon the
completion of our annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill as of December 31, 2022, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $15.4 million.



Inventories

We periodically review inventory for both potential obsolescence and potential declines in anticipated selling prices. In this review, we make assumptions
about the future demand for and market value of the inventory and based on these assumptions estimate the amount of any obsolete, unmarketable,
slow moving or overvalued inventory. We write down the value of our inventories by an amount equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory
and the net realizable value. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management at the time of the assessment, however,
additional inventory write-downs may be required, which could reduce our earnings.

Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, current tax assets and liabilities, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and our
future taxable income, both as a whole and in various tax jurisdictions, for purposes of assessing our ability to realize future benefit from our deferred tax
assets. We recognize in the financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position is more likely than not to be sustained during an audit,
including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. While we believe that we have appropriate support for the positions taken on our tax
returns, we regularly assess the potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. See
Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on income taxes.

The foregoing estimates, expectations and forward-looking statements are subject to change as we make strategic operating decisions from time to time
and as our revenue and expenses fluctuate from period to period.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not required.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Co-Diagnostics, Inc.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Co-Diagnostics Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2023, the
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the
related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company'’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters
below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.



Estimation of the Fair Value of Intangible Assets

As more fully described in Notes 2 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company acquired Idaho Molecular, Inc., and Advanced
Conceptions, Inc. in December 2021. As part of the transaction, the Company acquired in-process research and development indefinite-lived intangible
assets totaling $26,101,000. The Company assesses these assets for impairment at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances
occur that may indicate impairment. The Company’s analysis for the year ended December 31, 2023, required significant judgment to assess qualitative
factors in determining whether it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. As a result of their analysis, the Company
determined there was no impairment as of year-end.

Auditing the Company’s annual impairment assessment was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant judgement required in determining
whether it is more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. This required a high degree of auditor judgement, subjectivity and
effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence to evaluate management assessment in evaluating these indefinite-lived intangibles for
impairment. These procedures included among others: (1) evaluating management’s process for evaluating for impairment, (2) evaluating the factors
assessed by management (3) evaluating other relevant factors in making our own determination, and (4) evaluating and discussing considerations and
conclusions made by management.

/sl Tanner LLC

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023
Salt Lake City, Utah

March 14, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Co-Diagnostics, Inc (the Company) as of December 31, 2022, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December
31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company'’s financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

/sl Haynie & Company
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 16, 2023

We began serving as the Company'’s auditor in 2016. In 2023, we became the predecessor auditor.
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CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,916,878 $ 22,973,803
Marketable investment securities 43,631,510 58,289,066
Accounts receivable, net 303,926 3,453,723
Inventory, net 1,664,725 5,310,473
Income taxes receivable 26,955 1,870,419
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,597,114 761,187
Note receivable
- 75,000
Total current assets 62,141,108 92,733,671
Property and equipment, net 3,035,729 2,539,483
Operating lease right-of-use asset 2,966,774 372,115
Intangible assets, net 26,403,667 26,768,333
Investment in joint venture 773,382 672,679
Total assets $ 95,320,660 $ 123,086,281

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity



Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Operating lease liability, current
Contingent consideration liabilities, current
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liability
Operating lease liability
Contingent consideration liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders’ equity

Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 36,108,346 shares issued
and 31,259,668 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 34,754,265 shares issued

and 30,872,607 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022

Treasury stock, at cost; 4,848,678 and 3,881,658 shares held as of December 31, 2023 and

December 31, 2022, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated earnings

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 1,482,109 $ 952,296
2,172,959 934,447

838,387 297,209

891,666 1,689,471

362,449 -

5,747,570 3,873,423

659,186 1,181,284

- 2,417,987

2,152,180 50,708

748,109 1,042,885

3,559,475 4,692,864

9,307,045 8,566,287

36,108 34,754
(15,575,795) (14,211,866)
96,808,436 88,472,935

146,700 293,140

4,598,166 39,931,031

86,013,615 114,519,994

$ 95,320,660 $ 123,086,281

CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Product revenue
Grant revenue
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Research and development
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill impairment charges
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income, net
Interest income
Realized gain on investments
Loss on disposition of assets
Gain on remeasurement of acquisition contingencies
Gain (loss) on equity method investment in joint venture
Total other income, net

Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Change in net unrealized gains on marketable securities, net of tax
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive loss

Loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

$ 991,473  $ 34,218,209
5,820,565 -

6,812,038 34,218,209

4,184,949 5,481,093

2,627,089 28,737,116

6,860,815 7,344,628

14,279,441 14,262,963

22,962,593 17,438,098

1,230,474 1,282,718

- 15,388,546

45,333,323 55,716,953
(42,706,234) (26,979,837)

1,161,913 704,045

2,243,059 -

(2,578) (138,117)

1,092,581 7,899,644

100,703 (332,969)

4,595,678 8,132,603
(38,110,556) (18,847,234)
(2,777,691) (4,608,985)

$ (35,332,865) $ (14,238,249)
$ (146,440) $ 293,140
$ (146,440) $ 293,140
$ (35,479,305 $ (13,945,109)
$ (120) % (0.45)
$ (120) s (0.45)
29,346,599 31,479,028

29,346,599 31,479,028

CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES



Balance as of
December 31, 2021
Common stock
issued for option
exercises

Common stock
issued for warrant
exercises
Stock-based
compensation
expense

Common stock
issued for
acquisitions
Repurchases of
common stock
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax
Net loss

Balance as of
December 31, 2022

Stock-based
compensation
expense
Repurchases of
common stock

Other comprehensive
loss, net of tax

Net loss

Balance as of
December 31, 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Convertible Additional Other Total

Preferred Stock Common Stock Treasury Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Stock Capital Income Earnings Equity

- $ -| 33,819,862 $33,820 $ - $80,271,999 $ - $ 54,169,280 $ 134,475,099

- - 70,791 70 - 77,800 - - 77,870

- - 50,000 50 - 99,950 - - 100,000

- - 725,166 725 - 7,542,498 - - 7,543,223

- - 88,446 89 - 480,687 - - 480,776

- - - - (14,211,866) - - - (14,211,866)

- - - - - - 293,140 - 293,140

- - - - - - - (14,238,249) (14,238,249)

s -| 34,754,265 $34,754 $(14,211,866) $88,472,935 $ 293,140 $ 39,931,031 $ 114,519,994

- - 1,354,081 1,354 - 8,335,501 - - 8,336,855

- - - - (1,363,929) - - - (1,363,929)

- - - - - - (146,440) - (146,440)

- - - - - - - (35,332,865) (35,332,865)

- $ -| 36,108,346 $36,108 $(15,575,795) $96,808,436 $ 146,700 $ 4,598,166 $ 86,013,615

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss

CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill impairment charges
Stock-based compensation expense
Change in fair value of acquisition contingencies
Non-cash lease expense

Realized gain on investments

(Gain) loss from equity method investment

Loss on disposition of assets
Deferred income taxes

Provision for credit losses
Inventory obsolescence expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Inventory
Deferred revenue

Income taxes payable
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturities of marketable investment securities
Purchases of marketable securities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants
Repurchases of common stock
Net cash (used in) financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022
$ (35,332,865) $ (14,238,249)
1,230,474 1,282,718

- 15,388,546

8,336,855 7,543,223
(1,092,581) (7,899,644)

47,992 30,430

(2,243,059) -
(100,703) 332,969

2,578 138,117

(2,417,987) (4,810,457)

612,809 2,461,032

3,233,281 148,099
2,536,988 14,924,427
1,082,536 (224,094)

413,140 (3,673,309)

362,449 (150,000)

(522,098) (2,201,250)

1,768,326 (2,483,821)
(22,081,865) 6,568,737
(1,365,306) (1,427,512)
127,251,619 11,255,266
(110,497,444) (67,995,926)
15,388,869 (58,168,172)

- 177,870

(1,363,929) (14,211,866)
(1,363,929) (14,033,996)
(8,056,925) (65,633,431)
22,973,803 88,607,234

$ 14,916,878  $ 22,973,803




Interest paid $ - $ -
Income taxes paid $ 55,975 $ 4,498,742
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing transactions
Inventory moved to property, plant and equipment $ 673 $ 218,906
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 3,203,146 $ 681,327
Business acquisition measurement period adjustments $ = $ 1,593
Fair value of common stock issued as consideration for business acquisitions $ - $ 480,776
Fair value of contingent common stock issued as consideration for business acquisitions $ = $ 199,359

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022

Note 1 - Overview and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business

Co-Diagnostics, Inc., a Utah corporation (the “Company” or “CODX"), is a molecular diagnostics company that develops, manufactures and markets
state-of-the-art diagnostics technologies. The Company’s technologies are utilized for tests that are designed using the detection and/or analysis of
nucleic acid molecules (DNA or RNA). The Company also uses its proprietary technology to design specific tests for its Co-Dx PCR platform and to locate
genetic markers for use in applications other than infectious disease. In connection with the sale of our tests we may sell diagnostic equipment from other
manufacturers as self-contained lab systems.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Such estimates include inventories, receivables
and other long-lived assets, legal and regulatory contingencies, income taxes, share based arrangements, and others. These estimates and assumptions
are based on management’s best estimates and judgments. Actual amounts and results could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries have been prepared to reflect the
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation. These reclassifications have no impact on the
previously reported results.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, money market funds and highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of 90 days or less
from the date of purchase. The fair value of cash equivalents approximated their carrying value as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. The
Company has its cash and cash equivalents with a large creditworthy financial institution and the balance exceeded federally insured limits. The
Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts, and management believes the Company is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash
and cash equivalents.
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Marketable Investment Securities

The Company’s marketable investment securities are comprised of investments in certificates of deposit and U.S. Treasury bills and notes. The Company
designates investments in debt securities as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale debt securities with original maturities of three months or less from the
date of purchase are classified within cash and cash equivalents. Available-for-sale debt securities with original maturities longer than three months are
available to fund current operations and are classified as marketable investment securities, within current assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company may sell these securities at any time for use in its current operations or for other purposes, even prior to maturity. Available-for-sale debt
securities are reported at fair value with the related unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a
component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax. Realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities are determined using the average cost
method on a first-in, first-out basis and recorded in total other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss.

The available-for-sale debt securities are subject to a periodic impairment review. For investments in an unrealized loss position, the Company writes
down the amortized cost basis of the investment if it is more likely than not that the Company will be required or will intend to sell the investment before
recovery of its amortized cost basis. For investments not likely to be sold before recovery of the amortized cost basis, the Company determines whether
a credit loss exists by considering information about the collectability of the instrument, current market conditions, and reasonable and supportable
forecasts of economic conditions. The Company recognizes an allowance for credit losses up to the amount of the unrealized loss when appropriate.
Allowances for credit losses and write-downs are recognized in total other income (expense), net, and unrealized losses not related to credit losses are
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). There are no allowances for credit losses recorded for the periods presented.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount (net of allowance) and do not bear interest. The Company maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts for amounts the Company does not expect to collect. In establishing the required allowance, management considers historical losses,
current market condition, customers’ financial condition, the age of receivables, and current payment patterns. Account balances are written off against
the allowance once the receivable is deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of trade receivables previously written off are recorded when collected. At



December 31, 2023 total accounts receivable was $504,264 with an allowance for uncollectable accounts of $ 200,338 resulting in a net amount of
$303,926. At December 31, 2022 total accounts receivable was $ 6,552,249 with an allowance for uncollectable accounts of $ 3,098,526 resulting in a net
amount of $3,453,723.

Equity-Method Investments

Our equity method investments are initially recorded at cost and are included in other long-term assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
We adjust the carrying value of our investment based on our share of the earnings or losses in the periods which they are reported by the investee until
the carrying amount is zero. The earnings or losses are included in other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net-realizable value. Inventory cost is determined on a first-in first-out basis that approximates average cost in
accordance with ASC 330-10-30-12. At December 31, 2023, the Company had $1,664,725 in inventory, of which $700,467 was finished goods and
$964,258 was raw materials. At December 31, 2022, the Company had $ 5,310,473 in inventory, of which $1,327,264 was finished goods and
$3,983,209 was raw materials. The Company establishes reserves to reduce low-moving, obsolete, or unusable inventories to their estimated useful or
scrap values. The Company recognized $2,760,011 and $0 related to the change in inventory reserves during the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired
in business combinations. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least annually on
December 31, or more often if and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Finite-lived intangible assets are
amortized over their useful lives.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized impairment charges related to goodwill of $ 0 and $15,388,546,
respectively.

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the property, generally from three to five years. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred except when such repairs significantly add to the useful life or productive capacity of the asset, in which case the repairs are capitalized.

For in-process research and development projects acquired in business combinations, the in-process research and development project is capitalized
and evaluated for impairment until the development process has been completed. Once the development process has been completed the asset will be
amortized over its remaining estimated useful life. The Company reviews its long-lived assets, including property and equipment, indefinite-lived and
finite-lived intangible assets, and ROU assets, for impairment whenever an event or change in facts and circumstances indicates that their carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparing the carrying amount to the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to be generated. If the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, the assets are determined to be impaired and an
impairment charge is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds fair value.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from product sales and license sales. The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following criteria are satisfied:
(i) identification of the promised goods or services in the contract; (ii) determination of whether the promised goods or services are performance
obligations, including whether they are distinct in the context of the contract; (iii) measurement of the transaction price, including the constraint on
variable consideration; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognition of revenue when, or as the Company
satisfies each performance obligation. Based on the criteria above, the Company typically recognizes revenue upon delivery.

The Company constrains revenue by giving consideration to factors that could otherwise lead to a probable reversal of revenue. The Company records
any payments received from customers prior to the Company fulfilling its performance obligation(s) as deferred revenue.

Grant Revenue

The Company may submit applications to receive grant funding from governmental and non-governmental entities. The Company accounts for grants by
analogizing to the contribution accounting model under ASC 958-605, Not-for-Profit Entities (“ASC 958”). Revenues from grants, contracts, and awards
provided by governmental and non-governmental agencies are recorded based upon the terms of the specific agreements. The Company recognizes
grant funding without conditions or continuing performance obligations as revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss). The Company recognizes grant funding with conditions or continuing performance obligations as deferred revenue in the consolidated
balance sheets if the conditions or performance obligations have not yet been met. The Company recognized grant funding revenue of $5.8 million during
the year ended December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2023, the Company has also recorded $0.3 million of deferred revenue related to grant funding for
which the cash was received, but the underlying conditions or performance obligations have not yet been met. Cash received from federal grants,
contracts, and awards can be subject to audit by the grantor and, if the examination results in a disallowance of any expenditure, repayment could be
required.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue primarily consists of payments received from customers prior to the Company fulfilling its performance obligation of providing the
product. When this occurs, the Company records a contract liability as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue as the related
performance obligations are satisfied.
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Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred. The Company recorded $ 22,962,593 and $17,438,098 of research and development
costs for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Stock-based Compensation



The Company has granted stock-based awards, including restricted stock, stock options, stock warrants and restricted stock units (“RSUs”), to its
employees, certain consultants and members of its board of directors. The Company records stock-based compensation based on the grant date fair
value of the awards and recognizes the fair value of those awards as expense using the straight-line method over the requisite service period of the
award. The Company estimates the grant date fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. When an award is forfeited prior
to the vesting date, the Company recognizes an adjustment for the previously recognized expense in the period of the forfeiture.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, d eferred income tax
assets and deferred income tax liabilities represent the tax effect of temporary differences between financial reporting and tax reporting measured at
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company recognizes only the impact of tax positions that,
based on their technical merits, are more likely than not to be sustained upon an audit by the taxing authority.

Valuation allowances are provided when it is more-likely-than-not that some or all of the deferred income tax assets may not be realized. In assessing the
need for a valuation allowance, the Company has considered its historical levels of income, expectations of future taxable income and ongoing tax
planning strategies.

Developing the provision for income taxes, including the effective tax rate and analysis of potential tax exposure items, if any, requires significant
judgment and expertise in federal and state income tax laws, regulations and strategies, including the determination of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities and any estimated valuation allowances deemed necessary to value deferred income tax assets. Judgments and tax strategies are subject to
audit by various taxing authorities. The Company has uncertain income tax positions in the consolidated financial statements, and adverse
determinations by these taxing authorities could have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial positions, result of operations, or cash flows.

Net Income (Loss) per Share

Basic net income or loss per common share is computed by dividing net income or loss applicable to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during each period.

Diluted net income or loss per share is computed by dividing net income or loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding during the period increased by common shares that could be issued upon conversion or exercise of other
outstanding securities to the extent those additional common shares would be dilutive. The dilutive effect of potentially dilutive securities is reflected in
diluted net income or loss per share by application of the treasury stock method. During periods when the Company is in a net loss position, basic net
loss per share is the same as diluted net loss per share as the effects of potentially dilutive securities are anti-dilutive.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss and unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities, net of income taxes.

Concentrations Risk and Significant Customers

The Company had certain customers which were each responsible for generating 10% or more of the total revenue for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. Two customers accounted for approximately 28% of product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 and one
customer accounted for approximately 37% of product revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022. One granting agency accounted for 100% of

grant revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023.

43

Three customers accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. These customers together
accounted for approximately 97% and 61% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) that are adopted by the Company
as of the specified effective date. If not discussed, management believes that the impact of recently issued standards, which are not yet effective, will not
have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements upon adoption.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires an entity to

disclose annually additional information related to the company’s income tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid during the period. The guidance
should be applied prospectively with the option to apply the standard retrospectively. The standard becomes effective for the Company for full year 2025
reporting. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this new standard on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 3 - Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Financial Instruments

The following table shows the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, and marketable investment securities by significant investment category:

December 31, 2023

Total

Allowance Unrealized Cash and Marketable

Adjusted for Credit Gains / Cash Investment

Cost Losses (Losses) Fair Value Equivalents Securities

Cash $ 4,317,449 $ = $ = $ 4,317,449 $ 4,317,449 $ -
Level 1:

Money market funds 10,599,429 - - 10,599,429 10,599,429 -

Subtotal 10,599,429 - - 10,599,429 10,599,429 -
Level 2:

U.S. treasury securities 43,484,810 - 146,700 43,631,510 - 43,631,510

Subtotal 43,484,810 - 146,700 43,631,510 - 43,631,510

Total $58,401,688 % - $ 146,700 $58,548,388 $14,916,878 $43,631,510

December 31, 2022




Total

Allowance Unrealized Cash and

Adjusted for Credit Gains / Cash Marketable

Cost Lo (Lo ) Fair Value Equivalents Securities

Cash $12,834,444  $ - 3 - $12,834,444 $12,834,444 % =
Level 1:

Money market funds 146,359 - - 146,359 146,359 =

Subtotal 146,359 - - 146,359 146,359 -
Level 2:

U.S. treasury securities 67,892,825 - 389,241 68,282,066 9,993,000 58,289,066

Subtotal 67,892,825 - 389,241 68,282,066 9,993,000 58,289,066

Total $80,873,628 $ - $ 389,241  $81,262,869  $22,973,803  $58,289,066

Marketable investment securities held as of December 31, 2023 mature over the next 12 months.
Note 4 - Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures and records certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is based on the price that would
be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The following three levels of inputs are used to measure the fair value of financial assets and liabilities:
Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.
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The following table summarizes the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
by level within the fair value hierarchy:

December 31, 2023

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 13,806,864 $ - $ - $ 13,806,864
Marketable securities (U.S. treasury bills and notes) - 43,631,510 - 43,631,510
Total assets measured at fair value $ 13,806,864 $ 43,631,510 $ - $ 57,438,374
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration - common stock $ - $ - $ 1,318,995 % 1,318,995
Contingent consideration - warrants - - 320,780 320,780
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ - $ - $ 1,639,775 $ 1,639,775
December 31, 2022
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 186,667 $ 9,993,000 $ -3 10,179,667
Marketable securities (U.S. treasury bills and notes) - 58,289,066 - 58,289,066
Total assets measured at fair value $ 186,667 $ 68,282,066 $ - $ 68,468,733
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration - common stock $ - $ - $ 2,499,147 $ 2,499,147
Contingent consideration - warrants - - 233,209 233,209
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ - $ - $ 2,732,356 $ 2,732,356

The Company’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis consist of certificates of deposit and U.S. treasury bills and
notes as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In connection with prior year acquisitions, the Company recorded a liability for contingent consideration in the form of shares of common stock and
warrants to purchase common stock, both to be issued when certain milestones are achieved. The fair value of contingent consideration is calculated
using a discounted probability weighted valuation model. Discount rates used in such calculations are a significant assumption that are not observed in
the market, and therefore, the resulting fair value represents a Level 3 measurement.

The changes for Level 3 items measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows:

Fair value as of December 31, 2022 $ 2,732,356

Change in fair value of contingent consideration issued for business acquisitions (1,092,581)

Fair value as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,639,775
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The fair value of the contingent consideration is based on the fair value of the contingent consideration-common stock and contingent consideration-
warrants. The fair value of the contingent consideration-common stock is equal to the probability-adjusted value of the Company’s common stock as of
the valuation date. The fair value of the contingent consideration-warrants is equal to the probability adjusted value of a call option with terms consistent
with the terms of the warrants as of the valuation date. Prior to the probability adjustments, the warrants were valued based on the following inputs:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Stock price $ 1.33 $ 2.52




Strike price $ 9.13 $ 9.13

Volatility 187.5% 75.0%
Risk-free rate 4.0% 4.1%
Expected term (years) 3.0 4.0

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash held in banks, accounts receivable, notes receivable, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities, and other liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities and are excluded from the fair value tables above.

Note 5 - Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

Estimated December 31,
Useful Lives in
years 2023 2022
Lab equipment 3-5 $ 4,545,908 $ 3,574,730
Leasehold improvements 0-5 548,648 224,957
Office equipment, furniture and other 2-5 173,668 112,044
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (2,232,495) (1,372,248)
Fixed assets, net $ 3,035729 $ 2,539,483

Note 6 - Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in
business combinations. The following table presents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwiill:

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 14,706,818

Measurement period adjustments 681,728

Goodwill impairment charges (15,388,546)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 5
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The Company assesses goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis, or whenever events or changes in circumstances occur
that indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its carrying amount. The Company estimates the fair value of its reporting unit by using
forecasts of discounted future cash flows and peer market multiples. If the fair value is less than the carrying value, impairment will be recognized in the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value. The Company performed a qualitative and quantitative goodwill impairment assessment as of
December 31, 2022. Based on the impairment assessment performed the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of the
Company’s reporting unit was less than it's carrying amount. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of
goodwill to $0.

Intangible Assets, Net
Intangible assets, net consisted of the following:

December 31, 2023

Weighted-Average Gross Net
Useful Life (1) Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in Years) Amount Amortization Amount
In-process research and development Indefinite $ 26,101,000 $ - 8 26,101,000
Non-competition agreements 2.7 1,094,000 (791,333) 302,667
Total intangible assets $ 27,195,000 $ (791,333) $ 26,403,667

December 31, 2022

Weighted-Average Gross Net
Useful Life (1) Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in Years) Amount Amortization Amount
In-process research and development Indefinite $ 26,101,000 $ - % 26,101,000
Non-competition agreements 2.7 1,094,000 (426,667) 667,333
Total intangible assets $ 27,195,000 $ (426,667) $ 26,768,333

(1) Based on weighted-average useful life established as of the acquisition date.
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The expected future annual amortization expense of the Company’s intangible assets held as of December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Amortization

Year Ending December 31, Expense
2024 302,667
Total $ 302,667

Note 7 - Accrued Expenses



Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Payroll liabilities $ 1,643,186 $ 428,354
Distributor commissions 9,958 159,725
Other accrued liabilities 519,815 346,368
Total accrued expenses $ 2,172,959 $ 934,447

Note 8 - Revenue
The following table sets forth revenue by geographic area:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022
United States
Product revenue $ 659,618 $ 24,671,554
Grant revenue 5,820,565 -
Total United States 6,480,183 24,671,554
Rest of World
Product revenue 331,855 9,546,655
Grant revenue - -
Total Rest of World 331,855 9,546,655
Total $ 6,812,038 $ 34,218,209
Percentage of revenue by area:
United States 95% 72%
Rest of World 5% 28%

Deferred Revenue

Changes in the Company’s deferred revenue balance for the year ended December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ -
Increase due to prepayments from customers 32,570
Increase due to grant funding awarded 329,879

Balance as of December, 2023 $ 362,449

Note 9 — Earnings per Share

The following table reconciles the numerator and the denominator used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share for years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Numerator

Net loss, as reported $ (35,332,865) $ (14,238,249)
Denominator

Weighted average shares, basic 29,346,599 31,479,028
Dilutive effect of stock options, warrants and RSUs - -
Shares used to compute diluted earnings per share 29,346,599 31,479,028
Basic earnings per share $ (1200 $ (0.45)
Diluted earnings per share $ (1200 $ (0.45)
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The computation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 also excludes approximately 1.4 million
shares of common stock and approximately 465,000 warrants to purchase shares of common stock that are contingent upon the achievement of certain
milestones.

As a result of incurring a net loss for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, no potentially dilutive securities are included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share because such effect would be anti-dilutive. The Company had potentially dilutive securities as of December 31,
2023, consisting of: (i) 2,618,362 restricted stock units and (ii) 512,112 options, and potentially dilutive securities as of December 31, 2022, consisting of:
(i) 1,443,238 restricted stock units and (ii) 50,000 options.

Note 10 - Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company’s board of directors adopted, and shareholders approved, the Co-Diagnostics, Inc. Amended and Restated 2015 Long Term Incentive
Plan (the “Incentive Plan”) providing for the issuance of stock-based incentive awards to employees, officers, consultants, directors and independent
contractors. On August 31, 2022 the shareholders approved an increase in the number of awards available for issuance under the Incentive Plan to an
aggregate of 12,000,000 shares of common stock. The number of awards available for issuance under the Incentive Plan was 4,357,937 at December
31, 2023.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes option activity during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:



Weighted Average

Remaining
Number of Weighted Average Weighted Average Contractual Life
Options Exercise Price Fair Value (Years)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,111,363 $ 212 % 1.31

Granted - _ _

Expired - - -

Forfeited/Cancelled - - -

Exercised (70,791) 1.10 0.51
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,040,572 $ 219 % 1.37 5.88

Granted - - -

Expired - - -

Forfeited/Cancelled - - -

Exercised - - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 1,040,572 $ 2.19 $ 1.37 4.89
Exercisable at December 31, 2023 1,040,572 $ 2.19 $ 1.37 4.89
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The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, was $ 0 and approximately $0.4 million.
The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $0.2 million and $0.8 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2023, there were no unvested options and no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to options.

Restricted Stock Units

The grant date fair value of RSUs granted is determined using the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date with the
associated compensation expense amortized over the vesting period of the awards. The following table sets forth the outstanding RSUs and related

activity for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Weighted

Average Grant Date

Number of RSUs Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2021 1,267,415 $ 9.94
Granted 1,925,476 5.66
Vested (725,166) 8.66
Forfeited/Cancelled (41,000) 8.31
Unvested at December 31, 2022 2,426,725 $ 6.95
Granted 1,948,750 1.92
Vested (1,354,081) 6.17
Forfeited/Cancelled (95,897) 6.16
Unvested at December 31, 2023 2,925497 $ 3.99

As of December 31, 2023, there was $ 9.5 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to outstanding RSUs which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Warrants

The Company has issued warrants related to financings, acquisitions and as compensation to third parties for services provided. The Company estimates
the fair value of issued warrants on the date of issuance as determined using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The Company amortizes the fair value of
issued warrants using a vesting schedule based on the terms and conditions of each warrant if granted for services.
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The following table summarizes warrant activity during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Exercise Average Fair Contractual Life
Warrants Price Value (Years)
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 526,281 $ 815 % 4.01 4.7
Issued for adjustments to contingent purchase
consideration 8,719 9.13 1.88
Granted - - -
Expired - - -
Forfeited/Cancelled - - -
Exercised (50,000) 2.00 1.22
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 485,000 $ 8.81 $ 2.43 4.0
Granted - - -
Expired - - -
Forfeited/Cancelled - - -
Exercised - - -
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 485,000 $ 8.81 $ 1.29 3.0

The intrinsic value of warrants exercised during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, was $ 0 and approximately $0.3 million. The
aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding warrants at December 31, 2023 was approximately $0.

The total number of warrants exercisable at December 31, 2023 is 20,000. The ability to exercise the approximately 465,000 warrants issued in
connection with acquisitions in prior years is contingent upon the achievement of certain development and revenue milestones on or before January 1,
2027. There was no unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to warrants.



Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Cost of sales $ 46,586 $ 63,058
Sales and marketing 2,153,974 1,866,116
General and administrative 4,933,822 4,050,967
Research and development 1,202,473 1,563,082
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 8,336,855 $ 7,543,223

Note 11 - Income Taxes

The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Current:

Federal $ 84,435 $ 563,821

State (540,240) (266,248)
Total current $ (455,805) $ 297,573
Deferred:

Federal (7,228,611) (3,945,090)

State (2,068,509) (961,468)

Change in valuation allowance 6,975,234 -
Total deferred (2,321,886) (4,906,558)
Total income tax benefit $ (2,777,691) $ (4,608,985)
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A reconciliation of income tax expense at the statutory federal income tax rate and income taxes as reflected in the financial statements is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Federal income tax expense at statutory rate 21.0% 21.0%
State income tax expense, net of federal tax benefit 1.6% 4.8%
Permanent differences:

- Foreign derived intangible income deduction 0.0% 1.4%

- Stock based compensation -3.5% -3.6%

- Contingent consideration remeasurement 0.6% 8.8%

- Goodwill impairment 0.0% -17.1%

- Other permanent differences -0.2% -0.6%
Research and development credits 4.6% 11.1%
Change in uncertain tax positions 1.2% -2.1%
Change in valuation allowance -18.3% 0.0%
Other 0.3% 0.8%
Effective income tax rate 7.3% 24.5%
Net deferred tax liabilities consist of the following components as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

December 31,
2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued liabilities $ 58,158 $ 98,141

Reserves and allowances 734,631 765,004

Deferred compensation 620,551 566,076

Section 174 costs 7,337,629 3,460,159

Lease liability 742,131 85,899

UNICAP 43,943 168,936

Net operating loss carryforwards 4,040,601 -

Research and development credits 1,688,255 -

Total gross deferred tax assets 15,265,899 5,144,215
Less valuation allowance (6,938,829) -
Total deferred tax assets 8,327,070 5,144,215
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment, net

(672,416) (609,261)

Intangibles, net (6,552,255) (6,608,914)

Prepaids (329,768) (156,053)

Right of use asset (736,226) (91,873)

Other comprehensive income (36,405) (96,101)

Other - -
Total deferred tax liabilities (8,327,070) (7,562,202)
Net deferred tax liability $ - $ (2,417,987)

At December 31, 2023, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $ 16.3 million and federal research and development credit
carryforwards of $1.4 million. At December 31, 2023, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of $ 16.9 million and $0.8 million of state

research and development credit carryforwards. If unused, the state research credit carryforward will expire in 2037.
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ASC Topic 740-10-05 requires that the impact of a tax position be recognized in the financial statements if that position is more likely than not of being
sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. Our unrecognized tax benefit balances included $1,078,431 at December 31, 2023 and
$1,469,577 at December 31, 2022 of tax positions that, if recognized, would impact our effective tax rate. The Company expects no material changes to
the liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the next 12 months. Interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions are recorded as a
component of income tax expense. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized benefits is as follows:

December 31,

2023 2022
Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of the year $ 1,469,577 $ 1,067,853
Gross increases - current year tax positions 273,569 1,045,590
Gross increases - prior year tax positions 66,127 34,035
Gross decreases - prior year tax positions (730,842) (677,901)
Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year $ 1,078,431 $ 1,469,577
Interest and penalties in year-end balance $ 100,162 $ 34,035

The Company is subject to taxation in the United States and other state jurisdictions. The tax years from December 31, 2020 through December 31, 2023
remain open to examination for federal income tax purposes and by the other major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject. The Company is
not currently under examination by any taxing authority.

Note 12 - Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Obligations

The Company leases administrative, R&D, sales and marketing and manufacturing facilities under non-cancellable operating leases and leases
cancellable with one month notice. The Company expenses the cancelable leases in the period incurred in accordance with the practical expedient
elected. During the year December 31, 2023, the Company amended two operating leases to extend the lease term and entered into two new operating

leases. As a result, the Company recognized additional operating lease liabilities and corresponding operating right-of-use assets of $3,203,146.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, components of lease expense are summarized as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2023
Operating lease costs $ 813,743
Short-term lease costs 198,261
Total lease costs $ 1,012,004

As of December 31, 2023, the maturities of the Company’s lease liabilities are as follows:

Year Ending

December 31,
2024 $ 996,676
2025 1,018,383
2026 714,630
2027 300,591
Thereafter 308,462
Total lease payments 3,338,742
Less: imputed interest 348,175
Present value of operating lease liabilities 2,990,567
Less: current portion 838,387
Long-term portion $ 2,152,180

53
Other information related to operating leases was as follows:

Year Ended
December 31, 2023

Cash paid for operating leases included in operating cash flows $ 954,013
Remaining lease term of operating leases 3.7 years
Discount rate of operating leases 6.2%

Litigation

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable that
a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as
incurred.

The Company is a defendant in two class action claims and three derivative actions claiming that the Company promulgated false and misleading press
releases to increase the price of our stock to improperly benefit the officers and directors of the Company. The plaintiffs demand compensatory damages
sustained as a result of the Company’s alleged wrongdoing in an amount to be proven at trial. The Company is also a party to two civil actions, one in the
US and the other in the United Kingdom. Each of the civil actions is based on breach of contract claims against the Company. The Company believes
these lawsuits are without merit and intends to defend the cases vigorously. The Company is unable to estimate a range of loss, if any, that could result
were there to be an adverse final decision in these cases. As of the date of this report, the Company does not believe it is probable that these cases will
result in an unfavorable outcome; however, if an unfavorable outcome were to occur in these cases, it is possible that the impact could be material to the
Company'’s results of operations in the period(s) in which any such outcome becomes probable and estimable.



Note 13 — Share Repurchase Program

In March 2022, the Company’s board of directors authorized a share repurchase program that would allow the Company to repurchase up to $ 30.0
million of CODX common stock. The repurchase program does not obligate the Company to acquire any particular number of common shares, and the
repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time at the Company’s discretion. The timing and amount of any share repurchases under
the share repurchase program will be determined by Co-Diagnostics’ management at its discretion based on ongoing assessments of the capital needs
of the business, the market price of the Company’s common stock, corporate and regulatory requirements, and general market conditions.

For accounting purposes, common stock repurchased under the stock repurchase program is recorded based upon the transaction date of the applicable
trade. Such repurchased shares are held in treasury and are presented using the cost method. These shares are not retired and are considered issued
but not outstanding. The following table shows the changes in treasury stock for the periods presented:

Year Ended
December 31, 2023
Balance, beginning of period 3,881,658
Repurchases of common stock 967,020
Balance, end of period 4,848,678

Note 14 - Related Party Transactions

The Company employs one person who is related to current or former executive officers. Seth Egan is the Company’s Director of Sales and Marketing,
and is the son of Dwight Egan, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. During the year ended December 31,
2023, the total compensation paid to this person, including salaries, bonuses, and the grant date fair value of equity awards which vest over three years,
was $0.6 million. The Company also uses the services of Winston Egan as an independent contractor for sales operations consulting. Winston Egan is
also the son of Dwight Egan, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. During the year ended December 31,
2023, the total compensation paid to this contractor, comprised of consulting fees, was $0.1 million.

In August 2023, the Company entered into a services agreement with CoSara, the Company’s equity method investment, under which CoSara provides
certain research and development consulting and support services. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $0.2 million of
expense related to this agreement.

Note 15 - Subsequent Events

None.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified
in rules and forms adopted by the SEC. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023. Based on the evaluation, management has concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective as of December 31, 2023 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of our financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Company'’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a- 15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter of 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act). Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making its evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013).

Based on this evaluation, management determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting since we are a non-accelerated filer. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to

rules of the SEC that permit non-accelerated filers to provide only management'’s report in the 10-K.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting are intended to be designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. However, our management
does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A



control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under
all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost—effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not
be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated a “Rule 10-b5-1 trading arrangement” or
“non-Rule 10-b5-1 trading arrangement” as each term is identified in ltem 408 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.
None.
PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
The following table sets forth the names, ages and positions of our executive officers and directors as of March 12, 2024. The following is information on
the business experience of each director and executive officer now serving and a discussion of the qualifications, attributes and skills that led to the board

of directors’ conclusion that each one is qualified to serve as a director or as an executive officer as the case may be. Executive officers serve at the
discretion of the board of directors.

Name Age Position

Dwight Egan 70 Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board
Brian Brown 48 Chief Financial Officer and Secretary

Eugene Durenard 54 Director

James Nelson 71 Director

Richard Serbin 79 Director

Edward Murphy 59 Director

The following is a brief summary of the background of each of our executive officers.

Dwight Egan serves as our President and Chief Executive Officer and has been an officer and director of the Company since April 2013. Mr. Egan has
been engaged in private investment business from February 1999 to the present. He was a senior executive at Data Broadcasting Corporation, a leading
provider of wireless, real-time financial market data, news and sophisticated fixed- income portfolio analytics to 27,000 individual and professional
investors from 1995 to 1999. He co-founded and served as CEO and Chairman of the Board of Broadcast International, Inc. from 1984 to 1995, when
Data Broadcasting Corporation acquired Broadcast International and created CBS MarketWatch, a leading financial news site and participated in its initial
public offering. Mr. Egan’s prior experience in executive leadership positions with public companies and working with capital markets qualifies him to
serve as our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer.

Brian Brown became our Chief Financial Officer in February 2021. From July 2020 until February 2021, Mr. Brown served as the Chief Financial Officer
of A-Core Concrete Cutting, Inc. where his duties included overseeing the company’s accounting and finance departments, mergers and acquisitions and
responsibility for financial forecasting and budgeting. From January 2020 to July 2020, Mr. Brown was an independent consultant. From August 2019 to
December 2019, Mr. Brown served as the Vice President of Accounting, Treasury and Investor Relations at Sportsman’s Warehouse Holdings, Inc., a
public company reporting on Nasdaq Global Select under the symbol SPWH, where his duties included overseeing the company’s accounting, treasury
and investor relations departments, preparing the company’s annual, quarterly and current reports with the SEC, overseeing all aspects of the company’s
annual audit, including, but not limited to, the preparation and review of audit support schedules, preparation of financial statements and footnotes, and
providing support to the company’s independent auditors. From October 2009 to August 2019, Mr. Brown served as the Director of Finance of
Sportsman’s Warehouse Holdings, Inc. where he assisted with the company’s initial public offering in April 2014 as well as effecting private and
secondary public offerings, acquisitions of a group of retail stores and preparing the company’s periodic and current reports with the SEC and complying
with the Sarbanes Oxley Act. From May 2005 to October 2009, Mr. Brown served as the Corporate Controller of Franklin Covey Products where he
developed and maintained the company’s internal controls over financial reporting structure in accordance with the control standards required under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act. From July 2001 to May 2005, Mr. Brown served as an Assurance Senior at KPMG, LLP where he provided audit
services to various clients in multiple industries. Mr. Brown holds a Bachelor of Arts in Accounting and Masters of Professional Accountancy from the
University of Utah. Mr. Brown is a licensed CPA in Utah.

56

The following is a brief summary of the background of each of our directors:

Eugene Durenard has been a member of our board of directors since June 2019. Dr. Durenard is the Founder and CEO of Hyperbolic Holdings, a
Swiss-based holding, management consulting and strategy advisory company specialized in healthcare. For the last 7 years he has been working with
family offices on direct investments and philanthropy focused on life sciences. He serves on the advisory board of several private companies in the
biotech and MedTech sectors. After an initial career in proprietary research and trading at Salomon Brothers and Credit Suisse in London, he co-founded
Orion Investment Management in Bermuda specializing in quantitative asset and liability management for institutions and private clients. He
subsequently sold it to Capital G Bank and co-headed their asset management. Dr. Durenard spent several years establishing personal connections with
representatives of 40+ clusters of life science innovation, families operating healthcare businesses and industry leaders globally. He regularly visits labs
and incubators, meets with leading scientists and innovators in order to keep abreast of current trends and developments. His advice is based on a
thorough analysis that combines in-depth knowledge of science, competitive forces and financial expertise. He has published several articles in asset-
liability management industry magazines as well as the book “Professional Automated Trading — Theory and Practice” (Wiley 2013). He has a PhD in
Mathematics from Harvard University. Dr. Durenard brings a thorough multi-asset class investment and entrepreneurial experience spanning 25 years to
the Company'’s board of directors.

James Nelson has been a member of our board of directors since June 2019. Mr. Nelson is the retired Chairman and CEO of Sunworks, Inc., a
NASDAQ traded commercial, agriculture, and residential solar Integrator which he helped found in October 2010. Mr. Nelson spent most of his career
working in private equity as a general partner with Peterson Partners and with Millennial Capital Partners. In addition to his investment and financial
responsibilities, he served as CEO of two of his firms’ portfolio companies. Prior to his years in private equity, Mr. Nelson served as Vice President of
Marketing at Banana Republic, where he managed company-wide marketing, as well as the company’s international expansion initiative. He was also



general manager for Banana Republic’s catalog division. He was Vice President of Marketing and Corporate Development at Saga Corporation, a multi-
billion-dollar food service company. Mr. Nelson began his executive career over 35 years ago at Bain and Company, a business strategy consulting firm,
where he managed teams of consultants on four continents. Mr. Nelson received his MBA from Brigham Young University, where he graduated summa
cum laude and was named the Outstanding Master of Business Administration Graduate. Mr. Nelson’s advice to the board of directors from his
experiences as a chief executive officer and strategic advisor is useful to the board of directors.

Richard Serbin has been a member of our board of directors since May 2017. Mr. Serbin currently serves as a consultant to many companies in the
healthcare industry. He was the President of Corporate Development and In-House Legal Counsel at Life Science Institute, LLC, from June 1, 2013 to
July 15, 2014. He was appointed to the Advisory Board of Cure Pharmaceutical in January 2017 and has been a Member of Advisory Board at Prime
Access, Inc. since September 2015. Mr. Serbin has been a Director at Rapid Nutrition Plc since November 18, 2014. He served as Director at Viropro
Inc. from May 2013 to June 2014. He was Head of Business Advisory Board at Mazal Plant Pharmaceuticals Inc. from October 2006 to September 2007
and also served as its Member of Business Advisory Board. He served as Chief Executive Officer of Optigenex Inc. from July 2002 to September 15,
2005 and a director from July 2004 to September 2005. From January 1999 until July 2002 Mr. Serbin served as a consultant to various pharmaceutical
companies. He served as the President of Bradley Pharmaceuticals. He served as Vice President of Corporate Development at Ortho Pharmaceuticals, a
Johnson & Johnson subsidiary, and practiced Patent and FDA law at Revlon Johnson & Johnson and Schering-Plough. He served as Patent Attorney for
Schering Plough Corporation and Chief FDA Counsel for Revlon Corporation and Johnson and Johnson Corporation. Subsequently, he worked at Revion
Corporation, as its Chief Food, Drug and Cosmetic Counsel. He founded Radius Scientific Corporation. He was J&J's Vice President of Corporate
Development, and later led a successful public offering venture based on technology developed at Stanford Medical School. Mr. Serbin spent a large
portion of his career focusing on international markets and clients. While at J&J, Mr. Serbin served on the board of directors of 16 US and international
subsidiary companies, including Ethicon, Ortho, J&J Consumer Products, Pittman-Moore, Mc Neil, and J&J Development Corporation. He worked on
multiple international acquisitions and strategic relationships, and sat on the board of directors of several of its international subsidiaries, including those
in India, Hong Kong, Japan, Taiwan, Germany, and England. Mr. Serbin has a B.S. and a B. Pharmacy from Rutgers University and Rutgers University
College of Pharmacy, a J.D. degree from Seton Hall Law School and a Master's Degree in Trade Regulations and Law from NYU Law School. Mr.
Serbin’s experience in business, law and medicine and knowledge gained as an advisor to the healthcare industry is critical to our board of directors as
we continue to commercialize our products.

Edward Murphy has been a member of our board of directors since June 2019. Since December 1999, Mr. Murphy has served as a senior vice
president and a partner of Dover Investments Ltd., a private investment firm. Throughout his career, Mr. Murphy’s duties have included investment
analysis of various types of investment projects in real estate and financial services. Currently, Mr. Murphy serves on the board of directors of several
Canadian publicly reporting companies that have interests in various industries. He has been a Director at Empire Minerals Corporation Inc. since
January 2016, at Digicrypts Blockchain Solutions Inc. from June 2011 to November 2022, at Lakefield Marketing Corporation since February 2018,
CEO/CFO and Director of Credo Resources Inc. since September 2019, at the Mosport Park Entertainment Corporation since April 30, 1997, at Essex Oil
Ltd. Since July 2021, and at Darkhorse Technologies Ltd. Since November 2021. He served as a Director at Aurquest Resources from May 2003 to
December 2017. Mr. Murphy’s experience in the capital markets outside the United States and his involvement in investment analysis is a benefit to the
board of directors.

Dwight Egan — See narrative description above.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

To the best of our knowledge, none of our directors or executive officers has been involved in any bankruptcy or criminal proceedings (other than traffic
and other minor offenses) or been subject to any of the items set forth under Item 401(f) of Regulation S-K, nor have there been any judgments or
injunctions brought against any of our directors or executive officers during the last ten years that we consider material to the evaluation of the ability and
integrity of any director or executive officer.

Board and Committee Matters

Our board of directors has five members. The Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer, Dwight Egan, is a member of the board and is a
full-time employee of the Company. Eugene Durenard, Edward Murphy, James Nelson and Richard Serbin are non-employee directors, and the board
has determined that these persons (who constitute a majority of the board) are “independent directors” under the criteria set forth in Rule 5605(a)(2) of
the Nasdaq Listing Rules. The board met nine times during the year ended December 31, 2023. All directors attended more than seventy-five percent
(75%) of the meetings of the board and committee meetings of which such director was a member held during 2023.

We maintain an audit committee of the board, a compensation committee of the board, a corporate governance committee of the board and a nominating
committee of the board, each of which is discussed below. Our board of directors may from time to time establish other standing committees. In addition,
from time to time, special committees may be established under the direction of our board of directors when necessary to address specific issues.

The following table sets forth a description of the four permanent board committees and the chairpersons and members of those committees, all of whom
are independent directors:

Committee Independent Chairperson Independent Members

Audit Committee Eugene Durenard Edward Murphy James Nelson Richard S. Serbin
Compensation Committee Richard S. Serbin Edward Murphy Eugene Durenard James Nelson
Governance Committee James Nelson Edward Murphy Eugene Durenard Richard S. Serbin
Nominating Committee Edward Murphy James Nelson Eugene Durenard Richard S. Serbin

Audit Committee and Financial Expert

Our audit committee currently is comprised of Messrs. Durenard, Nelson, Murphy and Serbin with Mr. Durenard serving as chairperson of the audit
committee. The functions of the audit committee include engaging an independent registered public accounting firm to audit our annual financial
statements, reviewing the independence of our auditors, the financial statements and the auditors’ report, and reviewing management’s administration of
our system of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. The board of directors has adopted a written audit
committee charter. A current copy of the audit committee charter is available to security holders on our website at www.codiagnostics.com. Our board
has determined that all our directors that are serving on the audit committee are “independent” under the definition of independence in the Marketplace
rules of the NASDAQ listing standards. The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended December 31, 2023. All committee members
attended more than seventy-five percent (75%) of the meetings of the Audit Committee held during 2023.

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Durenard meets the requirements of an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in applicable SEC
regulations.
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Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee currently includes Messrs. Serbin, Nelson, Murphy and Durenard with Mr. Serbin serving as chairperson of the
compensation committee. The functions of the compensation committee include reviewing and approving corporate goals relevant to compensation for
executive officers, evaluating the effectiveness of our compensation practices, evaluating and approving the compensation of our chief executive officer
and other executives, recommending compensation for board members, and reviewing and making recommendations regarding incentive compensation
and other employee benefit plans. The board of directors has adopted a written compensation committee charter. A current copy of the compensation
committee charter is available to shareholders on our website at www.codiagnostics.com. Our board has determined that all of our directors serving on
the compensation committee are “independent” under the definition of independence in the Marketplace Rules of the NASDAQ listing standards. The
Compensation Committee met two times as a separate committee in 2023.

Corporate Governance Committee

Our Corporate Governance Committee currently includes Messrs. Nelson, Murphy, Durenard and Serbin with Mr. Nelson serving as chairperson of the
Corporate Governance Committee. Among other items, the committee is tasked by the board of directors to develop and recommend to the board the
Corporate Governance Guidelines of the Company and oversee compliance therewith. A current copy of the Corporate Governance committee charter is
available to shareholders on our website at www.codiagnostics.com. Our board has determined all directors serving on the Corporate Governance
committee are ‘“independent” under the definition of independence in the Marketplace Rules of the NASDAQ listing standards. The Corporate
Governance Committee did not meet as a separate committee in 2023, but rather, because the committee is comprised of all four independent directors,
committee matters were addressed as necessary in meetings of the board the year ended December 31, 2023.

Nominating Committee

Our Nominating Committee was split from the Corporate Governance Committee in 2022 and currently includes Messrs. Nelson, Murphy, Durenard and
Serbin with Mr. Murphy serving as chairperson of the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee has been established by the board, among
other things to: assist the board in effecting board organization, membership and function including identifying qualified board nominees; assist the board
in effecting the organization, membership and function of board committees including the composition of board committees and recommending qualified
candidates therefor; evaluate and provide successor planning for the Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers; and develop criteria for board
membership, such as independence, term limits, age limits and ability of former employees to serve on the board and the evaluation of candidates’
qualifications for nominations to the board and its committees as well as removal therefrom. The Nominating Committee did not meet as a separate
committee in 2023, but rather, because the committee is comprised of all four independent directors, committee matters were addressed as necessary in
meetings of the board for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Board Nominations

In considering board candidates, the board seeks individuals of proven judgment and competence who have strong reputations in their respective fields.
Although we do not have a formal diversity policy, the board considers such factors as experience, education, employment history, special talents or
personal attributes, anticipated participation in board activities, and geographic and diversity factors. The process for identifying and evaluating nominees
would include detailed consideration of the recommendations and opinions of members of our board, our executive officers, and our stockholders. There
would be no difference in the process of evaluation of candidates recommended by a stockholder and those recommended by other sources.
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Our Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) set forth procedures for shareholders to recommend nominees to the Company’s board. Nominations
of persons for election to the board of directors to be considered by the stockholders may be made at an annual meeting of stockholders (i) pursuant to
the Company'’s notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the board of directors, or (iii) by any stockholder of the Company who (A) was a stockholder
of record at the time of giving of the notice, (B) is entitled to vote with respect to such matter at the meeting, and (C) complies with the notice procedures
set forth in the Bylaws.

The following is a summary of key provisions from our Bylaws. For nominations to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, the
stockholder making such nominations must have given timely notice in writing to the secretary of the Company. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall

be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Company not later than the close of business on the 75th day nor earlier than the

close of business on the 125 day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year's annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date
of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so

delivered not later than the close of business on the later of (x) the 75th day prior to the scheduled date of such annual meeting or (y) the 15th day
following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the Company. To be in proper form, a stockholder’s notice
to the secretary must: set forth, as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is
made (A) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Company’s books, and of such beneficial owner, if any, (B) the class or
series and number of shares of the Company that are, directly or indirectly, owned beneficially and of record by such stockholder and such beneficial
owner, if any, as of the date of such notice, and (C) any other information relating to such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, that would be required
to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal and/or
for the election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder (the “Exchange Act”). In addition, shareholders who intend to solicit proxies in support of director nominees other
than the company’s nominees must also comply with the additional requirements of Rule 14a-19(b).

The notice shall set forth, as to each person, if any, whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director (A) all information
relating to such person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of
proxies for election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Exchange Act (including such person’s written consent to being
named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected) and (B) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other
monetary agreements, arrangements and understandings during the past three years, and any other relationships, between or among such stockholder
and beneficial owner, if any, and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the one hand, and each proposed
nominee, and his or her respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the other hand, including, without limitation all
information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 promulgated under Regulation S-K if the stockholder making the nomination and
any beneficial owner on whose behalf the nomination is made, if any, or any affiliate or associate thereof or person acting in concert therewith, were the
“registrant” for purposes of such rule and the nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant; and with respect to each nominee for
election or reelection to the board of directors, include the completed and signed questionnaire, representation, and agreement required by the Bylaws.
The Company may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required by the Company to determine the
eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an independent director of the Company or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s
understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such nominee.



Communication with the Board

We have not, to date, developed a formal process for shareholder communications with the board of directors. We believe our current informal process,
in which any communication sent to the board of directors, either generally or in care of the chief executive officer, secretary or other corporate officer or
director, is forwarded to all members of the board of directors, has served the board’s and the shareholders’ needs.

Conflicts of Interests

On an annual basis, each director and executive officer is obligated to complete a director and officer questionnaire that requires disclosure of any
transactions with our company, including related person transactions reportable under SEC rules, in which the director or executive officer, or any
member of his or her immediate family, have a direct or indirect material interest. Under our company’s standards of conduct for employees, all
employees, including the executive officers, are expected to avoid conflicts of interest. Pursuant to our code of ethics for the chief executive officer and
senior finance officers (as discussed below), such officers are prohibited from engaging in any conflict of interest unless a specific exception has been
granted by the board. All of our directors are subject to general fiduciary standards to act in the best interests of our company and our shareholders.
Conflicts of interest involving an executive officer or a director are generally resolved by the board.
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Role of the Board in Risk Oversight

Risk is inherent with every business, and how well a business manages risk can ultimately determine its success. Management is responsible for the
day-to-day management of the risks that we face, while our board of directors, as a whole and through its committees, has responsibility for the oversight
of risk management. In its risk oversight role, our board of directors is responsible for satisfying itself that the risk management processes designed and
implemented by management are adequate and functioning as designed.

Our board of directors does not have a standing risk management committee, but rather administers this oversight function directly through our board of
directors as a whole, as well as through various standing committees of the board of directors that address risks inherent in their respective areas of
oversight. In particular, our board of directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure, including a determination of the nature
and level of risk appropriate for us. Our Audit Committee has the responsibility to consider and discuss our major financial risk exposures and the steps
our management has taken to monitor and control these exposures, including guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment
and management is undertaken. The Audit Committee also monitors oversight of the performance of our internal audit function. Our Corporate
Governance Committee monitors the effectiveness of our corporate governance guidelines, including whether they are successful in preventing illegal or
improper liability-creating conduct. Our Compensation Committee assesses and monitors whether any of our compensation policies and programs have
the potential to encourage excessive risk-taking or promote behaviors contra to our Code of Business Conduct. Our Nominating Committee assesses and
monitors the effectiveness of the board and its committees and evaluates board members and nominees for election to the board and succession
planning for the CEO and other executive officers.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy
of the code of ethics is included on our website at www.codiagnostics.com.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among our directors and executive officers.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We are a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC. As a smaller reporting company, we may take advantage of
specified reduced disclosure and other requirements that are otherwise applicable, in general, to public companies that are not smaller reporting
companies. Accordingly, this Report includes reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements.

Summary Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the total compensation paid or earned by each of the named executive officers in their respective capacities for the fiscal

years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. We have omitted in this report certain columns otherwise required to be included because there was no
compensation made with respect to such columns, as permitted by applicable SEC regulations.

Stock All Other Total
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus (1) Awards (2) Comp Compensation
Dwight Egan President & Chief Executive Officer 2023 $ 375,000 $ 40,750 $ 845,550 $ - 3 1,261,300
2022 $ 366,146 $ 146,245 $1,454,750 $ = $ 1,967,141
Brian Brown Chief Financial Officer and Secretary 2023 $ 306,923 $ 32,000 $ 701,550 $ = $ 1,040,473
2022 $ 280,875 $ 106,647 $1,190,250 $ = $ 1,577,772

(1) Bonuses for the year ended December 31, 2023 include accrued bonus payments of $20,750 to Mr. Egan and $17,000 to Mr. Brown that were paid
in January 2024.

(2) The amounts reported in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted stock units, or RSUs, granted under our 2015
Plan as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Note that the amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting value for these
equity awards and do not correspond to the actual economic value that may be received from the equity awards as the RSUs vest over three years.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table: We do not have written employment agreements with any of our executive officers. All of our
executive officers serve on an at-will basis. The base salaries for our named executive officers were determined by our compensation committee after
reviewing a number of factors, including: the responsibilities associated with the position, the seniority of the executive’s position, the base salary level in
prior years, and our financial position; and for executive officers other than our Chief Executive Officer, recommendations made by our Chief Executive
Officer. By utilizing a combination of objective and subjective performance factors critical to our success, the board will award cash bonuses intended to
incentivize our executive officers to achieve results that benefit them and the Company. Performance factors include the achievement of predetermined
financial performance objectives, adherence to financial discipline measures and achievement of business development, product development and long-
term business stability. The board may modify or re-weight the objectives during the course of the fiscal year, if necessary, to reflect changes in our
business plan.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2023

The following table contains certain information concerning outstanding equity awards for the Named Executive Officers as of December 31, 2023.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Market or
Number Payout
of Value of
Number Market Unearned Unearned
of Value of Shares, Shares,
Shares Shares Units or Units or
or Units or Units Other Other
of Stock of Stock Rights Rights
Number of Securities That That That That
Underlying Unexercised Option Option Have Not Have Not Have Not Have Not
Options (#) Exercise Expiration Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name Exercisable  Unexercisable Price Date (#) ($) (1) (#) (%)
Dwight Egan 50,000 - $ 263 09/20/28 - - - -
50,000 - $ 110 09/02/29 - -

- - - - 20,833(2) $ 27,708 . .
: : : - 137,500(3) $182,875 - -
- - - - 103,333(4) $137,433 2 .
: : : - 229167(5) $304,792 - -

Brian Brown - - - - 16,667(2) $ 22,167 - -
- - - - 112,500(3) $149,625 - -

. . - 86,667(4) $115,267 . -

- - - 187,500(5) $249,375 - :

(1) Based on $1.33 per share, which was the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2023.

(2) Consists of restricted stock units granted on 8/12/2021, which vest in 6 installments commencing on 11/23/2021 and continuing every six months
Eg)er(e?ec‘)friiréts of restricted stock units granted on 6/6/2022, which vest in 6 installments commencing on 11/23/2022 and continuing every six months
t(z)er(e?ifrgiiréts of restricted stock units granted on 1/13/2023, which vest in 6 installments commencing on 5/23/2023 and continuing every six months
EE)erCe;iEEiréts of restricted stock units granted on 5/15/2023, which vest in 6 installments commencing on 11/23/2023 and continuing every six months
thereafter.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

At the recommendation of the compensation committee of the board of directors, the Board approved the Co-Diagnostics, Inc. Change in Control
Severance Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides severance benefits to a select group of designated management or highly compensated participants in
the event their employment or affiliation with the Company or an affiliate is terminated due to a change in control (as defined in the Plan). Participants
entitled to benefits under the Plan are designated from time-to-time by the Compensation Committee pursuant to the terms of an “Award Notice,” the form
of which is appended to the Plan. The Award Notice identifies the eligible participant and the Severance Multiplier (as defined in the Plan) to which the
participant is entitled. The Compensation Committee approved participation in the Plan for certain executives of the Company, including the Company’s
CEO, Dwight Egan, with a Severance Multiplier of three times his severance benefit and the Company’s CFO, Brian Brown, with a Severance Multiplier
of two times his severance benefit.

Under the Plan, if a participant's employment or affiliation is terminated without “cause” or by the participant for “good reason” (each, as defined in the
Plan) during the two-year period following a change in control, a participant will be entitled to a severance benefit equal to the participant’s Severance
Multiplier as set forth in the participant's Award Notice, times the sum of: (i) the participant’s annual base salary; and (ii) the greater of the participant’s
target bonus or the average of the three highest actual annual cash bonuses paid to participant over the five preceding completed years.

The participant’s receipt of any of the payments or benefits is subject to the participant’s delivery to the Company of a separation agreement of the type
that are ordinarily entered into in similar situations, in a form acceptable to the Company, in its sole discretion, which separation agreement may include
a requirement for the participant to remain in the employ or service of the Company for a reasonable period of time after completion of the Change in
Control transaction to assist in any transition activities for which participant’s services would be required.

Director Compensation

We use a combination of cash and stock-based incentive compensation to attract and retain qualified candidates to serve on its board of directors. In
setting director compensation, we consider the significant amount of time that directors expend in fulfilling their duties as well as the skill level required by
our members of the board.
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The table below summarizes the compensation paid or accrued by us to each of our non-employee directors for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2023.

Stock Awards:

Fees Earned Value of
or Paid in Restricted

Name Cash Stock Units (1) Total
Richard Serbin (2) $ 100,000 $ 198,000 $ 298,000
James Nelson (3) $ 100,000 $ 198,000 $ 298,000
Edward Murphy (4)

$ 100,000 $ 198,000 $ 298,000
Eugene Durenard (5) $ 100,000 $ 198,000 $ 298,000



(1) The amounts reported in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted stock units, or RSUs, granted under our 2015
Plan as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. Note that the amounts reported in this column reflect the accounting value for these
equity awards and do not correspond to the actual economic value that may be received from the equity awards. The RSUs vested immediately upon
grant.

(2) As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Serbin had 120,000 RSU awards outstanding.

(3) As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Nelson had 120,000 RSU awards outstanding.

(4) As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Murphy had 120,000 RSU awards outstanding.

(5) As of December 31, 2023, Mr. Durenard had 120,000 RSU awards outstanding.

Our non-employee directors receive cash compensation of $100,000 per year, paid quarterly. In 2022, they also received 70,000 RSU’s vesting 1/6 th

equally in May 2023, 2024, and 2025 and November 2023, 2024 and 2025. In 2023, they also received 40,000 RSU'’s vesting 1/6 th equally in November
2022, 2023, and 2024 and May 2023, 2024, and 2025, as well as 70,000 RSU’s vesting 1/6th equally in November 2023, 2024 and 2025 and May 2024,
2025 and 2026. In addition, non-employee directors may be entitled to receive special awards of stock options or RSUs from time to time as determined
by the board. The chairman of the board and the chairperson of each of the audit, corporate governance, nomination, and compensation committees
receive no additional fees for serving in such capacities. There is no additional compensation for meeting attendance. Directors who are employees of the
Company receive no additional compensation for serving as directors. All stock options granted to outside directors are immediately exercisable and
expire ten years from the date of grant or 30 days after the date they cease to be directors. Directors are reimbursed for ordinary expenses incurred in
connection with attending board and committee meetings.
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Equity Incentive Plans

Under our Amended and Restated 2015 Long-term Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), the board of directors may issue incentive stock-based awards to
employees, directors and consultants of the company. Options awarded generally expire ten years after being granted. Any stock-based awards granted
vest in accordance with the vesting schedule determined by the board of directors. Should an employee’s director’s or consultant’s relationship with the
company terminate before the vesting period is completed, the unvested portion of each grant is forfeited. We continue to maintain and grant awards
under the 2015 Plan which will remain in effect until its expiration by its terms.

The purpose of our incentive plan is to advance the interests of our stockholders by enhancing our ability to attract, retain and motivate persons who are
expected to make important contributions to the company by providing them with both equity ownership opportunities and performance-based incentives
intended to align their interests with those of our stockholders. These plans are designed to provide us with flexibility to select from among various equity-
based compensation methods, and to be able to address changing accounting and tax rules and corporate governance practices by optimally utilizing
stock-based awards.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain information, as of March 12, 2024, with respect to the holdings of (1) each person who is the beneficial owner of
more than 5% of our Common Stock, (2) each of our directors, (3) each named executive officer, and (4) all of our current directors and executive officers
as a group.

Beneficial ownership of the common stock is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and includes any
shares of common stock over which a person exercises sole or shared voting or investment power, or of which a person has a right to acquire ownership
at any time within 60 days of March 12, 2024. Applicable percentage ownership in the following table is based on 31,259,668 shares of common stock
plus, for each individual, any securities that individual has the right to acquire within 60 days of March 12, 2024.

The information in the table below is based on information known to us or ascertained by us from public filings made by the stockholders. Except as
otherwise indicated in the table below, addresses of the director, executive officers and named beneficial owners are in care of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.,
2401 S. Foothill Drive, Suite D, Salt Lake City, Utah 84109.

Number of Shares Percentage
Beneficially Owned of Class (1)
5% Stockholders
Vanguard Group (1) 1,781,283 5.7%
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Dwight Egan (2) 370,881 *
Brian Brown 213,220 *
Edward Murphy (3) 147,500 *
Eugene Durenard 85,000 *
James Nelson (4) 135,000 *
Richard Serbin (5) 107,945 *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (6 persons) 1,059,546 3.3%

*Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

(1) Information obtained from Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2024. Vanguard Group has an address of 100 Vanguard Blvd,
Malvern, PA, 19355.

(2) Includes exercisable options to acquire 100,000 shares of common stock.

(3) Includes exercisable options to acquire 50,000 shares of common stock.

(4) Includes exercisable options to acquire 50,000 shares of common stock.

(5) Includes exercisable options to acquire 20,445 shares of common stock.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
(c) Number of

Securities Remaining
Available for Future

(a) Number of Shares Issuance Under Equity
to be Issued upon (b) Weighted-average Compensation Plans
Exercise of Exercise Price of (Excluding Securities
Outstanding Options QOutstanding Options Referenced in Column
Plan Category and Rights and Rights (a)

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 3,966,069 (1) $ 2.19 2) 4,357,937
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders - $ - -



Total 3,966,069 (1) $ 2.19 2) 4,357,937
(1) Includes options and restricted stock units outstanding under our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.
(2) Represents weighted-average exercise price per share of common stock acquirable upon exercise of outstanding stock options.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Company employs one person who is related to current or former executive officers. Seth Egan is the Company’s Director of Sales and Marketing,
and is the son of Dwight Egan, the Company's President and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. During the year ended December 31,
2023, the total compensation paid to this person, including salaries, bonuses, and the grant date fair value of equity awards which vest over three years,
was $648,201. The Company also uses the services of Winston Egan as an independent contractor for sales operations consulting. Winston Egan is also
the son of Dwight Egan, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
the total compensation paid to this contractor, comprised of consulting fees, was $120,000.

Policy for Review of Related Party Transactions

The review of transactions with related persons policy is set forth in our Corporate Governance Committee Charter. The Corporate Governance
Committee is to oversee the administration of any related party transactions policy in effect with respect to transactions in which the Company is a
participant and involving directors, nominees for director, executive officers of the Company or holders of more than 5% of the Company’s common stock
or immediate family members of any such person.

Director Independence

For information regarding the independence of our directors, see “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance” in Part Ill, Iltem 10 of this
Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The aggregate fees and expenses for professional services rendered by our principal accounting firm, Tanner LLC for 2023 and Haynie & Company for
2022, are separately presented and are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Audit fees $ 154,811 $ 136,600
Audit related fees - -
Other consulting fees 287,838 -
Tax fees - -
Total fees $ 442,649 $ 136,600

Audit fees consist of fees for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, review of our
guarterly consolidated financial statements and our offerings.

Other consulting fees relate to fees for products and services other than the services reported above and consist of federal and state research tax credit
consulting services (at a fixed fee).

The audit committee has adopted a policy that requires advance approval of all services performed by the independent auditor when fees are expected
to exceed $15,000. The audit committee has delegated to the audit committee chairperson, Mr. Durenard, the authority to approve services, subject to
ratification by the audit committee at its next committee meeting. All fees incurred were pre-approved by the audit committee.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are included in Part Il, Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial statement schedules. There are no financial statements schedules included because they are either not applicable or the required
information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K and Item 15(b) of this Annual Report are listed in the Exhibit Index below. The
exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are incorporated by reference herein.

Filed
with Incorporated by SEC
Exhibit this Reference herein from Form or Filing File/Reg.
Number Exhibit Description Report Schedule Date Number
2.1*+ Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between Co- Form 8-K (Exhibit 2.1) 12/23/21 001-38148
Diagnostics, Inc, IDMO Acquisition Corp., Idaho Molecular
Inc., and Company Representative dated as of December 21
2021.
2.1.2 Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Form 8-K (Exhibit 2.2) 06/16/22 001-38148

Co-Diagnostics, Inc., Idaho Molecular, Inc., and Kirk Ririe, as
Company Representative



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315221032360/ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222016975/ex2-2.htm

2.2%+

221

3.1

3.2
4.1
4.2

10.1

10.2#

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between Co-
Diagnostics, Inc, ACI Acquisition Corp., Advanced

Conceptions, Inc., and Company Representative dated as of

December 21, 2021

Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among

Co-Diagnostics, Inc., Advanced Conceptions, Inc., and Richard

Abbott, as Company Representative

Articles of Incorporation

Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation

Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation

Articles of Amendment

Articles of Amendment

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.

Description of Registrant’s securities

Form of Indenture

Exclusive Agreement between Co-Diagnostics, Inc. and DNA

Logix, Inc., dated April 18, 2014

Co-Diagnostics, Inc. Amended and Restated 2015 Long Term

Incentive Plan

Form of Indemnification Agreement

Shareholders’ Agreement between Co-Diagnostics and
Synbiotics Limited, dated January 27, 2017

Amended Exclusive License Agreement between Co-
Diagnostics, Brent Satterfield, and DNA Logix, Inc., dated

January 1, 2017

Warrant Agreement between Co-Diagnostics, Inc and VStock
Transfer, LLC. Dated December 31, 2021 (ACI Warrant)

Form 8-K (Exhibit 2.2)

Form 8-K (Exhibit 2.1)

Draft Registration Statement (Exhibit 3.1)

Draft Registration Statement (Exhibit
3.1.1)

Form 8-K (Exhibit 3.2)
Form 10-K (Exhibit 3.1.3)
Form 10-K (Exhibit 3.1.3)

Form 8-K (Exhibit 3.1)

Registration Statement (Exhibit 4.1)

Draft Registration Statement (Exhibit
10.2)
Form S-8/A

Form S-1/A (Exhibit 10.13.8)

Form S-1 (Exhibit 10.16)

Form S-1 (Exhibit 10.17)

Form 10-K (Exhibit 10.6)

12/23/21

06/16/22

01/12/17

01/12/17

01/03/19

03/24/22

03/16/2023

04/01/22

03/16/23

01/12/17

11/20/20

05/24/17

04/28/17

04/28/17

03/24/22

001-38148

001-38148

377-01467

377-01467

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

333-270628

377-01467

333-237684

333-217542

333-217542

333-217542

001-38148

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.9.1

10.9.2

10.10#

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

141

211

231

23.2

Warrant Agreement between Co-Diagnostics, Inc and VStock
Transfer, LLC. Dated December 31, 2021 (IDMO Warrant)

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated February 27,

2020

Lease Agreement 2401 Foothill Drive

Amendment #1 to Lease

Amendment #2 to Lease

Co-Diagnostics, Inc. Change in Control Plan

Commercial Lease Agreement, dated June 1, 2023, between
Ozone Biotech, LLC and Co-Diagnostics, Inc.

Commercial Lease Agreement, dated September 18, 2023,

between Ge Estate, LLC and Co-Diagnostics, Inc.

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Coltrin & Associates

dated October 31, 2019

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Coltrin & Associates

dated February 6, 2020

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Coltrin & Associates

dated February 6, 2020

Amendment dated July 31, 2020 to Common Stock Purchase
Warrant issued to Coltrin & Associates dated October 31, 2019

Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers

Subsidiaries of Registrant

Consent of Tanner LLC

Consent of Haynie & Company

Form 10-K (Exhibit 10.7)

Form 8-K (Exhibit 10.1)

Form 10-K (Exhibit 10.9)
Form 10-K (Exhibit 10.9.1)
Form 10-K (Exhibit 10.9.2)

Form 8-K (Exhibit 10.1)

Form 10-Q (Exhibit 10.1)

Form 10-Q (Exhibit 10.1)

Registration Statement (Exhibit 4.9)

Registration Statement (Exhibit 4.10)

Registration Statement (Exhibit 4.11)

Registration Statement (Exhibit 4.12)

Form 10-K (Exhibit 14.1)

03/24/22

02/27/20

03/24/22

03/24/22

03/24/22

05/16/23

08/10/23

11/09/23

03/16/23

03/16/23

03/16/23

03/16/23

03/30/20

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

001-38148

333-270628

333-270628

333-270628

333-270628

001-38148


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315221032360/ex2-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222016975/ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000147793217000164/filename2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000147793217000164/filename3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315219000111/ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex3-1_3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex3-1_3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222008865/ex3-1.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223007975/ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000147793217000164/filename7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315220022110/ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000147793217002536/codx_ex10138.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000147793217002006/axdx_ex1016.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000147793217002006/axdx_ex1017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex10-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex10-7.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315220003091/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex10-9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex10-9_1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315222007662/ex10-9_2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223017799/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223027538/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223040050/ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223007975/ex4-9.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223007975/ex4-10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223007975/ex4-11.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315223007975/ex4-12.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1692415/000149315220005305/ex14-1.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex21-1.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex23-1.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex23-2.htm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to section 302 X
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the X
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the X
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
97 Co-Diagnostics, Inc. Clawback Policy X
101 Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document (A) X
SCH

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document (A)

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

GV
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document (A) X
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document (A) X
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)
(A) IXBRL (INLINE EXTENSIBLE BUSINESS REPORTING
LANGUAGE) information is furnished and not filed for purposes

of Section 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

#Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement

*Schedules and exhibits to these Exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

+ Portions of Exhibit 2.1 and Exhibit 2.2 have been omitted as they contain information that (i) is not material and (ii) is the type of
information the issuer both customarily and actually treats as private and confidential.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC.

Date: March 14, 2024 By: /s/ Dwight Egan
Dwight Egan
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Brian Brown
Brian Brown
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Dwight Egan Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 14, 2024
Dwight Egan (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Brian Brown Chief Financial Officer March 14, 2024

Brian Brown (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


file:///tmp/T5819/ex31-1.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex31-2.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex32-1.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex32-2.htm
file:///tmp/T5819/ex97.htm

/s/ Eugene Durenard

Eugene Durenard

/s/ Edward Murphy

Edward Murphy

/s/ James Nelson

James Nelson

/s/ Richard Serbin

Richard Serbin

Director

Director

Director

Director

68

March 14, 2024

March 14, 2024

March 14, 2024

March 14, 2024




EXHIBIT 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED

The following description of our capital stock summarizes certain provisions of articles of incorporation, as amended (the “ Articles of
Incorporation”), our bylaws (the “Bylaws”), and applicable provisions of law. Such summaries do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are
qualified in their entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of our Articles of Incorporation and our Bylaws, including the definitions therein of certain
terms, and all of the applicable provisions of law. Copies of our Articles of Incorporation and our Bylaws are filed or incorporated by reference as exhibits
to our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

References in this Exhibit to the “Company,” “us,”
context requires otherwise.

we,” and “our” are solely to Co-Diagnostics, Inc. and not to any of its subsidiaries, unless the

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK
Authorized Capital Stock

Pursuant to our Articles of Incorporation, our authorized capital stock presently consists of 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value
$0.001 per share, and 5,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.

Common Stock
Fully Paid and Non-Assessable Shares; No Liability for Corporate Obligations

All of the outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and non-assessable. A share of Common Stock is fully paid and non-assessable if
such share has been issued for consideration legally permissible under the Utah Revised Business Corporation Act with a value at least equal to the par
value per share of Common Stock. Holders of fully paid and non-assessable shares of the Common Stock will not be liable for any obligations or
liabilities of the Company that the Company may fail to discharge.

Voting Rights

Each holder of shares of Common Stock is entitled to one vote for each share owned of record on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders.
Except as noted below or as otherwise required by the Utah Revised Business Corporation Act, the vote of shareholders is required to decide any matter
brought before a shareholder meeting at which a quorum is present. The holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our stock must approve any
amendments to our Articles of Incorporation, any merger or consolidation to which we are a party (other than parent-subsidiary mergers), any sale of all
or substantially all of our assets or our dissolution as a corporation. Our shareholders do not have cumulative voting rights as to the election of directors.

Dividends

Subject to the preferential rights of any holders of any series of our preferred stock that may be issued in the future, the holders of shares of
Common Stock are entitled to such dividends and distributions, whether payable in cash or otherwise, as may be declared from time to time by our board
of directors from legally available funds.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. The payment of dividends on our Common Stock in the future will
depend on our earnings, capital requirements, operating and financial condition, and such other factors as our board of directors may consider
appropriate. We currently expect to use all available funds to finance the future development and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying
dividends on our Common Stock in the foreseeable future.

Liquidation Distributions

Subject to the preferential rights of any holders of any series of our preferred stock that may be issued in the future, upon our liquidation,
dissolution, or winding-up, and after payment of all prior claims against our assets and our outstanding obligations, the holders’ shares of Common Stock
will be entitled to receive, pro rata, all of our remaining assets.
Preemptive, Conversion, Redemption, or Similar Rights

The holders of shares of Common Stock are not entitled to any preemptive or other similar rights to subscribe for or acquire additional shares of
Common Stock or any other securities of the Company. The shares of Common Stock are not subject to conversion or redemption by the Company and
the holders of shares of Common Stock do not have any right or option to convert such shares into any other security or property of the Company or to
cause the Company to redeem such shares of Common Stock. There are no sinking fund provisions applicable to the Common Stock.
Listing

Shares of the Common Stock are listed for trading on the NASDAQ Capital Markets under the symbol “CODX.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Stock is VStock Transfer Company, Inc. located at 18 Lafayette Pl, Woodmere, New York
11598. Its telephone number is (212) 828-8436.

Preferred Stock

Shares of our preferred stock are NOT listed for trading. The description herein is provided solely to show the potential effect on our Common
Stock.

Our Atrticles of Incorporation authorizes 5,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which 30,000 have
been designated as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

All 30,000 previously outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock were converted into Common Stock during 2020 and 2019. The board of



directors of the Company may provide for the issue of any or all of the unissued and undesignated shares of the preferred stock in one or more series,
and to fix the number of shares and to determine or alter for each such series, such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such
designation, preferences, and relative, participating, optional, or other rights and such qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, as shall be stated
and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the board of directors providing for the issuance of such shares and as may be permitted by
law, without shareholder approval.

Our board of directors has the right to establish one or more series of preferred stock without shareholder approval. Unless required by law or by
any stock exchange on which our Common Stock is listed, the authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for issuance at the discretion of our
board of directors without further action by our shareholders. Our board of directors is able to determine, with respect to any series of preferred stock, the
terms and rights of that series, including:

the designation of the series;
the number of shares of the series;

whether dividends, if any, will be cumulative or non-cumulative and the dividend rate, if any, of the series;

the dates at which dividends, if any, will be payable;
the redemption rights and price or prices, if any, for shares of the series;
the terms and amounts of any sinking fund provided for the purchase or redemption of shares of the series;

the amounts payable on shares of the series in the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of
the affairs of our company;

whether the shares of the series will be convertible into shares of any other class or series, or any other security, of our
company or any other entity, and, if so, the specification of the other class or series or other security, the conversion price or
prices or rate or rates and provisions for any adjustments to such prices or rates, the date or dates as of which the shares will
be convertible, and all other terms and conditions upon which the conversion may be made;

the ranking of such series with respect to dividends and amounts payable on our liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up, which
may include provisions that such series will rank senior to our Common Stock with respect to dividends and those distributions;

restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or any other class or series; or

voting rights, if any, of the holders of the series.

The issuance of preferred stock could adversely affect, among other things, the voting power of holders of Common Stock and the likelihood that
shareholders will receive dividend payments and payments upon our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up. The issuance of preferred stock could also
have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in control of us.

If we issue shares of preferred stock, the shares will be fully paid and nonassessable and will not have, or be subject to, any preemptive or

similar rights.




List of Subsidiaries
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Co-Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) has the following direct and indirect subsidiaries:

Jurisdiction of

Exhibit 21.1

Percentage of

Subsidiary Name Formation Ownership

DNA Logix, Inc. Utah 100%
Idaho Molecular, Inc. Idaho 100%
Advanced Conceptions, Inc. Utah 100%




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Co-Diagnostics, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-270628, 333-226835, 333-237684 and 333-269350) on Forms S-3
and S-8 of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. of our report dated March 14, 2024 with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. as of
December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”), which report appears in the December 31, 2023 annual
report on Form 10-K of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.

/sl Tanner LLC
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 14, 2024




EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements No. 333-270628 and No. 333-226835 on Form S-3 and 333-237684 and 333-
269350 on Form S-8 of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. of our report dated March 16, 2023, relating to our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2022 which appear in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.

/s/ Haynie & Company
Salt Lake City, Utah
March 14, 2024




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002
AND RULE 13A-14 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

CERTIFICATION

I, Dwight Egan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a — 15(f) and 15d —
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’'s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2024 /s/ Dwight Egan

Dwight Egan
Chief Executive Officer, President and Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT OF 2002
AND RULE 13A-14 OF THE EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

CERTIFICATION

I, Brian Brown, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Co-Diagnostics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a — 15(f) and 15d —
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’'s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2024 /s/ Brian Brown

Brian Brown
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Dwight Egan, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 14, 2024 /s/ Dwight Egan

Dwight Egan
Chief Executive Officer, President and Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian Brown, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: March 14, 2024 /s/ Brian Brown

Brian Brown
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer




Exhibit 97
CO-DIAGNOSTICS, INC.
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION RECOVERY POLICY
1. Introduction.

The Board of Directors of Co-Diagnostics, Inc. (the “ Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to create and
maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company’s compensation philosophy. The Board has therefore
adopted this policy, which provides for the recovery of erroneously awarded incentive compensation in the event that the Company is required to prepare
an accounting restatement due to material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws (the
“Policy”). This Policy is designed to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”), related rules
and the listing standards of Nasdaq Stock Market or any other securities exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed in the future.

2. Administration.

This Policy shall be administered by the Board or, if so designated by the Board, the Compensation Committee (the * Committee”), in which case, all
references herein to the Board shall be deemed references to the Committee. Any determinations made by the Board shall be final and binding on all
affected individuals.

3. Covered Executives.

Unless and until the Board determines otherwise, for purposes of this Policy, the term “ Covered Executive” means a current or former employee who is
or was identified by the Company as the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting
officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or
finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person (including any executive officer of the Company’s subsidiaries or
affiliates) who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company. “Policy-making function” is not intended to include policy-making functions that
are not significant. “Covered Executives” will include, at minimum, the executive officers identified by the Company pursuant to Item 401(b) of Regulation
S-K of the Exchange Act.

This Policy covers Incentive Compensation received by a person after beginning service as a Covered Executive and who served as a Covered
Executive at any time during the performance period for that Incentive Compensation.
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4. Recovery: Accounting Restatement.

In the event the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, the Company will recover reasonably promptly any excess Incentive
Compensation received by any Covered Executive during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date on which the Company is
required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, including transition periods resulting from a change in the Company'’s fiscal year as provided in Rule
10D-1 of the Exchange Act. Incentive Compensation is deemed “received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the financial reporting measure
specified in the Incentive Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of that period.
The determination of the time when the Company is “required” to prepare an Accounting Restatement shall be made in accordance with applicable SEC
and national securities exchange rules and regulations.

(@) Definition of Accounting Restatement.

For the purposes of this Policy, an “Accounting Restatement” means the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of
its financial statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) due to the Company’s material noncompliance
with any financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws (including any required accounting restatement to correct an
error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a
material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period).

The determination of the time when the Company is “required” to prepare an Accounting Restatement shall be made in accordance
with applicable SEC and national securities exchange rules and regulations.

An Accounting Restatement does not include situations in which financial statement changes did not result from material non-
compliance with financial reporting requirements, such as, but not limited to retrospective: (i) application of a change in accounting
principles; (ii) revision to reportable segment information due to a change in the structure of the Company’s internal organization; (iii)
reclassification due to a discontinued operation; (iv) application of a change in reporting entity, such as from a reorganization of entities
under common control; (v) adjustment to provision amounts in connection with a prior business combination; and (vi) revision for stock
splits, stock dividends, reverse stock splits or other changes in capital structure.

(b) Definition of Incentive Compensation.

For purposes of this Policy, “Incentive Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in
part upon the attainment of a “financial reporting measure” (as defined in paragraph (b) below), including, for example, bonuses or
awards under the Company’s short and long-term incentive plans, grants and awards under the Company’s equity incentive plans, and
contributions of such bonuses or awards to the Company’s deferred compensation plans or other employee benefit plans. Incentive
Compensation does not include awards which are granted, earned and vested without regard to attainment of financial reporting
measures, such as time-vesting awards, discretionary awards and awards based wholly on subjective standards, strategic measures or
operational measures.

(c) Financial Reporting Measures.

Financial reporting measures are those that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in
preparing the Company’s financial statements (including non-GAAP financial measures) and any measures derived wholly or in part



from such financial measures. For the avoidance of doubt, financial reporting measures include stock price and total shareholder return.
A measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC to constitute a financial reporting
measure for purposes of this Policy.

(d) Excess Incentive Compensation: Amount Subject to Recovery .

The amount(s) to be recovered from the Covered Executive will be the amount(s) by which the Covered Executive's Incentive
Compensation for the relevant period(s) exceeded the amount(s) that the Covered Executive otherwise would have received had such
Incentive Compensation been determined based on the restated amounts contained in the Accounting Restatement. All amounts shall
be computed without regard to taxes paid.

For Incentive Compensation based on financial reporting measures such as stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of
excess compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an Accounting Restatement, the Board
will calculate the amount to be reimbursed based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on such financial
reporting measure upon which the Incentive Compensation was received. The Company will maintain documentation of that reasonable
estimate and will provide such documentation to the applicable national securities exchange.

(e) Method of Recovery.

The Board will determine, in its sole discretion, the method(s) for recovering reasonably promptly excess Incentive Compensation
hereunder. Such methods may include, without limitation:

0) requiring reimbursement of compensation previously paid;

(i) forfeiting any compensation contribution made under the Company’s deferred compensation plans, as well as any matching
amounts and earnings thereon;

(iii) offsetting the recovered amount from any compensation that the Covered Executive may earn or be awarded in the future
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, recovering amounts earned or awarded in the future to such individual equal to
compensation paid or deferred into tax—qualified plans or plans subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(collectively, “Exempt Plans”); provided that, no such recovery will be made from amounts held in any Exempt Plan of the

Company);
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(iv) taking any other remedial and recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Board; or
(iv) some combination of the foregoing.

5. No Indemnification or Advance.

Subject to applicable law, the Company shall not indemnify, including by paying or reimbursing for premiums for any insurance policy covering any
potential losses, any Covered Executives against the loss of any erroneously awarded Incentive Compensation, nor shall the Company advance any
costs or expenses to any Covered Executives in connection with any action to recover excess Incentive Compensation.

6. Interpretation.

The Board is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate or advisable for the administration of
this Policy. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any
applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC or any national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed.

7. Effective Date.

The effective date of this Policy is October 2, 2023 (the “ Effective Date”). This Policy applies to Incentive Compensation received by Covered Executives
on or after the Effective Date that results from attainment of a financial reporting measure based on or derived from financial information for any fiscal
period ending on or after the Effective Date. In addition, this Policy is intended to be and will be incorporated as an essential term and condition of any
Incentive Compensation agreement, change-in-control plan, or any other plan or program that the Company establishes or maintains on or after the
Effective Date.

8. Amendment and Termination.

The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary to reflect changes in regulations
adopted by the SEC under Section 10D of the Exchange Act and to comply with any rules or standards adopted by the Nasdaqg Stock Market or any other
securities exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed in the future.

4

9. Other Recovery Rights.

The Board intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. Upon receipt of this Policy, each Covered Executive is required to
complete the Receipt and Acknowledgement attached as Schedule A to this Policy. The Board may require that any employment agreement or similar
agreement relating to Incentive Compensation entered into on or after the Effective Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder,
require a Covered Executive to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recovery under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any (i)
other remedies or rights of compensation recovery that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment
agreement, or similar agreement relating to Incentive Compensation, unless any such agreement expressly prohibits such right of recovery, and (ii) any
other legal remedies available to the Company. The provisions of this Policy are in addition to (and not in lieu of) any rights to repayment the Company
may have under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other applicable laws.

10. Impracticability.

The Company shall recover any excess Incentive Compensation in accordance with this Policy, except to the extent that certain conditions are met and
the Board has determined that such recovery would be impracticable, all in accordance with Rule 10D-1 of the Exchange Act and the Nasdaq Stock
Market or any other securities exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed in the future.



11. Successors.

This Policy shall be binding upon and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal
representatives.

Schedule A

INCENTIVE-BASED COMPENSATION CLAWBACK POLICY
RECEIPT AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I, , hereby acknowledge that | have received and read a copy of the Incentive Compensation
Recovery Policy. As a condition of my receipt of any Incentlve Compensation as defined in the Policy, | hereby agree to the terms of the Policy. | further
agree that if recovery of excess Incentive Compensation is required pursuant to the Policy, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by
governing laws, require such recovery from me up to the amount by which the Incentive Compensation received by me, and amounts paid or payable
pursuant or with respect thereto, constituted excess Incentive Compensation. If any such reimbursement, reduction, cancelation, forfeiture, repurchase,
recoupment, offset against future grants or awards and/or other method of recovery does not fully satisfy the amount due, | agree to immediately pay the
remaining unpaid balance to the Company.

Signature Date




